QNS JATER
@ENTURA?UNTY ISINCE 19%)’%’
(805) 646-2114 -

WATER SPRECLDUS”

N

202 WEST EL ROBLAR DRIVE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
District Office: 202 W. El Roblar Drive, Ojai, CA 93023

JOIN BY COMPUTER: https://meet.qoto.com/320719525
DIAL-IN (US): +1 (646) 749-3122
ACCESS CODE: 320-719-525

If you require special accommodations for attendance at or participation in this meeting,
please notify our office at least 24 hours in advance at (805) 646-2114 ext 3 or
agenda@meinersoakswater.com

(Govt. Code Section 94594.1 and 94594.2 (a))
January 20, 2026, at 6:00 pm.

1. Call meeting to order.
2. Roll call
3. Approval of the Minutes: December 16, 2025, Regular Meeting

4. Public comment for items not appearing on the agenda

Right to be heard: Members of the public have a right to address the Board directly on any item
of interest to the public that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, provided that no
action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is otherwise
authorized by subdivision (b) of Section 54954 .2.

Please Note: If you have comments on a specific agenda item(s), please fill out a comment card
or send a virtual “chat” note to the Board Secretary. The Board President will call on you for your
comments at the appropriate time, either before or during the Board’s consideration of that item.

*TIME CERTAIN 6:05 pm**

5. Board Action and/or Discussion: Receive presentation from RDN Water Rate Study Consultants
and approve funding option(s). (Anthony Elowsky, RDN) — Attachment
a) Recommended Action: Receive presentation and approve funding option(s).

Closed Session Agenda - Adjourn to Closed Session (Estimated 6:30 pm): [t is the intention of
the Board of Directors to meet in Closed Session to consider the following items:

6. Closed Session Iltems
Agenda, Regular Board Meeting January 20, 2026

Page 1 of 100


https://meet.goto.com/320719525
mailto:agenda@meinersoakswater.com

e The Board of Directors may hold a closed session to discuss the following items:
e CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Gov. Code § 54956.9)
Name of case: Santa Barbara Channelkeeper v. State Water Resources Control

Board, et al., Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. 19STCP01176

Reqular Agenda (***Reconvene Reqular Meeting, Estimated Time 6:30 pm***)

7. Financial matters
a) Approval of Payroll and Payables from December 16, 2025, to January 15, 2026, in the

amount of:
Payables $ 105,006.90

Payroll $68,117.89
Total $173,124.79

8. Board action and/or discussion

a) Election of the Board Officers. (Etchart/Oakland) — No Attachment
a. Board President

b. Board Vice President
c. Recommended Action: Elect the President and Vice President of the Board.

b) Review and nominate Board Committee Memberships and representatives. (President/VP)

— Attachment
a. Recommended Action: Establish the 2026 Board Committee membership.

c) Approve Resolution 20260120: Appointing Director and Alternate Director to the Board of
Directors of the Upper Ventura River Groundwater Agency Joint Powers 2026-2028.
(President/Ward) — Attachment

a. Recommended Action: Approve Resolution 20260120.

d) Receive copies of the updated Brown Act in accordance with SB 707. (Ward/Nielson) —

Attachments
Recommended Action: Receive only, no motion required.

9. General Manager’s Report
The Board will receive an update from the General Manager on District operations and

maintenance.
10.Board Secretary’s Report

Agenda, Regular Board Meeting January 20, 2026

Page 2 of 100



The Board will receive an update from the Board Secretary on District administrative and related
matters.

11.Board Committee Reports
e Executive & Personnel Committee
e Upper Ventura River Groundwater Agency
e Allocation, New Meters & Expansion of Services Committee
e Budget & Rate Committee
e Grants Committee
e Emergency Management Committee

e Treatment Plant Design Ad Hoc Committee

12.0Ild Business

e State Water update

e Matilija Dam removal update

13.Director Announcements/Reports

14. Adjournment: The next scheduled Regular Board meeting is February 17, 2026, at 6:00 pm.

Agenda, Regular Board Meeting January 20, 2026

Page 3 of 100



Regular Meeting Meiners Oaks Water District
December 16, 2025 202 W. El Roblar Drive
6:00 pm Ojai, CA 93023-2211

Minutes

1. Call to Order

The Board President, Mike Etchart, called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. The meeting
was also available via teleconference.

2. Roll Call

Present: Board President, Mike Etchart, Board Directors: James Kentosh, Christian
Oakland, and Joe Pangea. Staff Present: General Manager, Justin Martinez, and Board
Secretary, Summer Ward. Attorney Present: Stuart Nielson.

Absent: Director, Christy Cooper.

3. Approval of the Minutes

Approval of the November 18, 2025, Regular Board Meeting minutes.

Director Kentosh made the motion to approve the minutes from the November 18, 2025,
meeting. Director Pangea seconded the motion.

No Public Comment.

Kentosh/Pangea
(4) Ayes — M/S/C
(1) Absent - Cooper

4. Public Comments

None.

**The Board did not go into closed session. **

Regular Meeting Minutes
December 16, 2025

Page 4 of 100



5. Closed Session: The Board of Directors held a closed session to discuss litigation,
pursuant to the attorney/client privilege, as authorized by Government Code
Sections $54957 & 54956.8, 54956.9, and 54957.

e CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Gov. Code § 54956.9)
Name of case: Santa Barbara Channelkeeper v. State Water Resources Control Board, et al.,
Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. 19STCP01176

**The Board did not go into closed session.**

6. Financial Matters
a) Approval of Payroll and Payables from November 16, 2025, to December 15, 2025,
in the amount of:

Payables: $121,672.33
Payroll: $ 57,732.87
Total: $179,405.20

Director Oakland made the motion to approve the Payroll and Payables for November
16, 2025, to December 15, 2025. Director Pangea seconded the motion.

No Public Comment.

Oakland/Pangea

(4) Ayes — M/S/C
(1) Absent - Cooper

7. Board Discussion/Actions

a) Receive an update on Brown Act SB 707 and SB 827 Training, effective January 1,
2026.
Ms. Ward presented updates provided by the California Special Districts Association on
the Brown Act SB 707, signed into law on October 3, 2025. MOWD is not considered an
"Eligible Legislative Body (ELB)." MOWD must meet the general requirements, effective
January 1, 2026. General requirements include providing the updated Brown Act to
each elected official, elected officials' conduct on social media, reporting on closed
sessions, and changes to the remote participation of elected officials during meetings.
Additionally, SB827 was expanded to require, in addition to the biennial Ethics training,
a biennial Fiscal and Financial Planning training. Executives/Department heads are also
now required to complete both biennial trainings. Ms. Ward will inform the Board and
staff when the approved training modules are available. Ms. Ward will be consulting with
Attorney Nielsen to prepare updated bylaws, policies, and/or resolutions for the January
regular meeting.

Regular Meeting Minutes
December 16, 2025

Page 5 of 100



Director Kentosh requested clarification on the ELB requirement to have a policy to
address meeting disruptions. He recommended that MOWD implement a policy, even if
it is not required. Ms. Ward stated she will work with Attorney Nielsen to provide a draft
policy for board consideration.

No Public Comment.

No Motion.

8. General Manager's Report

Mr. Martinez reported that the Casitas Lake level is at 91.5% as of December 11, 2025.
Wells 2, 4a & 7 are online. The new down-hole equipment for Well 4a is being modified to
meet specifications; no installation date has been scheduled yet. Well 1 equipment was
pulled, and Cascade inspected the well. Assessment and pricing for the Well 1 rehab and
equipment are pending. MOWD is contracted with Resource Compliance for CalARP
enrollment, and progress is good. The AMI meter replacement program continues to make
progress. Two Will-Serve letters were issued in the past month. Mr. Martinez reported that
Field Supervisor Levi Maxwell returned to work on Monday, December 15, 2025, following
his military leave. Rainfall totals remain consistent with the previous report, and there is a
high chance of rain events next week. Mr. Martinez reviewed the various field repairs and
notable events from the past month. He noted that the District will reduce nitrate sampling
frequency at Ranchitos from monthly to quarterly.

No Public Comment.

9. Board Secretary's Report
Ms. Ward provided a summary of administrative activities. The updates to the Brown Act
and biennial trainings were provided under agenda item 7a. Ms. Ward is registered for the
new SWRCB CalWATRS reporting portal. The annual water use reporting is due on the
new portal by January 31, 2026. Staff conducted a payroll process assessment with a Tyler
Technologies Payroll Specialist to ensure paycodes, structures, and the mapping of
OT/Comp time earnings to the correct W-2 box comply with the new tax law. SDRMA Risk
Control Assessment site visit was completed on November 19, 2025. The assessment
included a review of policies, plans, and resources, as well as site inspections. The
SDRMA risk specialist will be providing staff with resources and recommendations. The
Water Rate Study work continues. Ms. Ward, Mr. Martinez, and Director Cooper met with
the consultants last week to run through an initial presentation for the Board. The plan is for
the RDN consultants to attend the January 20, 2026, regular meeting to present the first
phase of the study, funding options. Once the Board reaches consensus on the funding
option to pursue, phase two will focus on the rate structure and rate planning. Ms. Ward
noted that four of the five Directors will be up for re-election in 2026, and that election
documents from the County Elections Division will begin going out in early Spring 2026.

Regular Meeting Minutes
December 16, 2025

Page 6 of 100



No Public Comment.

10.Board Committee Reports
e Executive & Personnel Committee: No report.
e UVRGA: No meeting.
e Budget/Rate Committee: No report.
e Emergency Management Committee: No report.
e Allocations, New Meters & Expansion of Services Committee: No report.
e Grants: No report.
e Treatment Plant Design Ad Hoc Committee: No report.

11.0Ild Business
e State Water: No report.
e Matilja Dam Removal Update: No report.

12.Director Announcements/Reports
e Director Kentosh: No report
e Director Oakland: No report.
e Director Pangea: No report
e Director Cooper: Absent
e Director Etchart: No report

13.Meeting Adjournment

The next meeting will be held on January 20, 2026, at 6:00 pm. Since there was no further
business to conduct, Board President Mike Etchart adjourned the meeting at 6:34 pm.

Board Secretary Board President

Regular Meeting Minutes
December 16, 2025

Page 7 of 100



A
@imuna COUNTY SINCE 19:’:?"{"/Jll Wa t er R d t € St u d y

Meiners Oaks Water District

DRAFT FINANCIAL OPTIONS

ROBERT D. NIEHAUS, INC,
JANUARY 20, 2025

a>2DN
e




Objective of Today’s Meeting

= Review Financial Inputs
o Revenues

o Operating expenses
o Capital plan
o Reserve Targets

m Review Financial Plan Scenarios

= Select Financial Plan(s) for future analysis and rate design



Revenues

Water Rate Revenue $2,006,914 $1,937,435 $1,948,859 $1,962,027 $1,977,180 $1,987,560 $1,998,791 $2,010,958 S$2,024,153 $2,038,481 S$2,054,053
Other Operating Revenue S40,000 $40,000 S40,000 S40,000 $40,000 S40,000 S40,000 $40,000 S40,000 S40,000 S40,000
Non-Operating Revenue $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000 $6,000
Property Tax Revenue $215,000 $221,764 S228,741 S235,937 $243,359 S251, 015 S258, 912 S267,058 $275,459 S284,125 $293,064
Investment Revenue 560 000 S19, 885 S11, 010 SO $O $O SO SO SO

® |nvestment revenues decrease because of fund balances

= 2 new residential customers projected per year



Operating Expenses

= Current O&M includes $1.9 million in expenses

" Projected inflation ~4.6% per year

Payroll 3.91% 3.91% 3.91% 3.91% 3.91%
Other Employee 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Utilities 4.64% 4.64% 4.64% 4.64% 3.54%
Chemicals 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11%
Water Treatment 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%
Fuel/Automobile 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30%
Construction 6.21% 6.21% 6.21% 6.21% 4.86%
Insurance 6.38% 6.38% 4.29% 4.29% 4.29%
Overall 3.21% 3.21% 3.21% 3.21% 3.21%
Property Tax 3.15% 3.15% 3.15% 3.15% 3.15%
No Escalation 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Water Purchase 8.31% 7.95% 7.37% 7.11% 7.11%
Water Fixed Charges 18.72% 18.75% 18.67% 18.50% 10.00%



Capital Plan

Project | TotalCost | FY2026 | FY2027 | FY2028 | FY 2029 | FY 2030 | FY 2031 | FY 2032 | FY 2033 | FY 2034 | FY 2035 | FY 2036

Treatment Plant

Meiners Rd Zone

Replace Tank #2

Old Well 4 Rehab

Tico Booster Relocate Electricity
District Office Rehab

New Well Replace Well 1
Chloramination Trailer
Replace Mains

Replace Valves

AMI Meters

Truck Replace - Ford Ranger
Truck Replace - 2013 Dodge
Replace Tank #2 - Engineering

Appropriations for Contingencies

Blending Station
Other

$5,500,000

$275,000

$2,500,000

$350,000
$15,000
$60,000
$200,000
$130,000
S0
$815,000
$250,000
$60,000
$75,000
$30,000

$1,100,000

$500,000
$340,000

$50,000

$65,000
$50,000

$100,000

$40,000

$175,000
$15,000
$60,000
$150,000

$75,000
$50,000
$60,000

$30,000
$100,000

$30,000

$5,500,000
$50,000
$2,500,000
$175,000

$130,000

$75,000
$50,000

$75,000
$100,000

$30,000

S0

$225,000 S0

S0

S0

S0

S0

S0

S0

S0

$75,000 $75,000 S$75,000 S$75,000 S$75,000 S$75,000 $75,000 $75,000
$50,000 $50,000 S0
S0

S0

$100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000
$500,000
$30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000

Total [ | 305000 $745,000 $8,685,000 $755,000 $480,000 $205,000 $205,000 $205,000 $205,000 $205,000 $205,000




Capital Plan

$10.0

$9.0
$8.0

Millions

Project Type

$7.0
$6.0
$5.0
$4.0
$3.0
$2.0

$1.0

$0.0 == B ey ! —
FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

B Mains ®\Wells ® Distribution = General ® Meters m Storage ® Plant ® \Water Source



Current/Recommended Reserve Targets

=Operating Reserve - 6 months of operating expenses Current Balance is projected to be

~$1.3 million at the end of the

mCapital Replacement Fund — 5% of asset value fiscal year

"Emergency Reserve — S1 million minimum balance

Reserve Policy

Recommended FY26 Current FY26 Proposed

Reserve Current Policy Policy Target e
Equal to 1/6 of
Operating Reserve Annual Operating ~ © M‘é“ths of O&M $313,650 $1,120,300
xpenses
Expenses
(o)
Capital Replacement Fund  No Specific Policy > ©f Cy;[jgt e $1,000,000 $277.978
Minimum Balance of Minimum Balance of
Emergency Fund $600K $1 Million $600,000 $1,000,000
Total FY26 Target $1,913,650 $2,398,278

*Note that the financial options show current reserve targets



Financial Plan Options

= Status Quo
o Does not include Treatment Plant (WTP) or Tank 2 Rehab

= Option 1 - Issue debt to fund large projects
> S8 Million loan to fund WTP and Tank 2

Treatment Plant ~S5.5

= Option 2 — Issue debt to fund tank project

o $2.5 Million loan to fund Tank 2 million CIP
= Option 3 — Fund all projects with rates ~

o WTP and Tank 2 funded by rates Ta.n!( 2 Rehab SZS
= Option 4 — Fund only tank project with rates million CIP

o Tank 2 only funded by rates (WTP pushed) B|ending Station
= Option 5 — Fund regular CIP with rates ~ HIF

> Delay WTP and Tank 2 projects SOS million CIP

o Fund all other CIP with rates



Status Quo Financial
Plan




, 535 $3.19 8333
S $3.03 $3.06
= $3.0 $2.82 $2.86 $2.87 : : a u S
$2.52 '
Quo:
[ ]
52.0
Operating
$1.0

Position

$0.0
FY 2026FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036
mmmm \Water Purchase  mssm Operating Expense Debt Service
mmmm Capital Paygo = Revenue Current



$4.0

e Status

$2.0
$1.0 . .
$0.0 - u O °

I
.lIIIII Fund

Millions

Balance

-$5.0

-$6.0
FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

mmm Ending Balance === Reserve Target



Option 1




Option 1

= Assumes S8 Million loan in FY 2028
° 5.0% interest rate
o 30-year loan term
o Intended to fund WTP and Tank 2
o |ncurs annual debt service payment of ~$520,000

= Revenue adjustments fully fund:
o O&M Expenses

o Remaining CIPs

o Debt service payments

Healthy reserve balance

Debt Service Coverage Requirements

[e]

[e]

Revenue Adjustment 15.0% 15.0% 10.0% 6.0% 6.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 8,000,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




n

® ¥

Millions
(e ]

o
w
iy

$3.0
$2.5

Option 1:
Operating

Position

$1.5
$1.0

$0.5

$0.0
FY 2026FY 2027FY 2028 FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036

mmm \Vater Purchase  msmm Operating Expense Debt Service

mmmm Capital Paygo = Revenue Current Revenue Adjusted

Revenue Adjustment 15.0% 15.0% 10.0% 6.0% 6.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Debt Issuance 8,000,000
Interest Rate 5.0%

Debt Term (years) 30




$25

[74]
c
S
=
$2.0
[ ]
o Option 1:
°
Fund
N I I I |
FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
mmm Ending Balance = Reserve Target
Revenue Adjustment 15.0% 15.0% 10.0% 6.0% 6.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 8,000,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




2.5

2.0
15 /

1.0
05
0.0 —
[ ]
Option 1:
°
-1.0
-2.0
FY 2026 FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033 FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036
== DSCR Current  =—=DSCR Proposed DSCR Requirement
Revenue Adjustment 15.0% 15.0% 10.0% 6.0% 6.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 8,000,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




Option 2




Option 2

= Assumes $2.5 Million loan in FY 2028
° 5.0% interest rate
o 30-year loan term
° Intended to fund Tank 2
o |ncurs annual debt service payment of ~$160,000

= Revenue adjustments fully fund:
o O&M Expenses

o Remaining CIPs (excluding WTP, includes blending plant)
o Debt service payments

Healthy reserve balance

Debt Service Coverage Requirements

[e]

[e]

Revenue Adjustment 12.0% 12.0% 10.0% 4.0% 4.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 2,500,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




$4.5

w0

G

= $4.0

= $3.69
$3.5
$3.0
$2.5 O °

tion 2:
$2.0 p °
$1.5 O .
perating
$05 P [ ] t [}
00 OSITION
FY 2026FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036
mmm \Vater Purchase  mssm Operating Expense Debt Service
mmmw Capital Paygo = Revenue Current Revenue Adjusted
Revenue Adjustment 12.0% 12.0% 11.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 2,500,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




$3.0

Millions

$2.0

Option 2:

{ |I||
N II : -.I ABEE  Balance

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

=== Ending Balance

o

(47}

Reserve Target

Revenue Adjustment 12.0% 12.0% 11.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 2,500,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




. Option 2:
: DSCR

FY 2026 FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033 FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036

===DSCR Current =—=DSCR Proposed DSCR Requirement
Revenue Adjustment 12.0% 12.0% 11.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Debt Issuance 2,500,000
Interest Rate 5.0%
Debt Term (years) 30




Option 3




Option 3

= Assumes no debt issuance

= All CIP funded with rates
o Includes WTP and Tank 2

= Revenue adjustments fully fund:

o O&M Expenses
o Remaining CIPs
o Healthy reserve balance

Revenue Adjustment 102.0% 99.0%

-40.0%

-30.0%

-25.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

Debt Issuance




$12.0

Millions
3
—
o
(]

$8.0

$6.0

$2.0

$0.0

FY
2026

mmmm \Water Purchase  mssm Operating Expense

mwmm Capital Paygo

$10.86

FY  FY  FY
2029

2027 2028

Revenue Adjustment

102.0%

Debt Issuance

FY
2030

— Revenue Current

99.0%

$2.70 9$2.81

FY FY FY FY

2031 2032 2033 2034
Debt Service
Revenue Adjusted

-40.0%

$2.93 $3.06 $3.19 $3.33

-30.0%

FY  FY
2035 2036

-25.0%

Option 3:
Operating
Position

0.0%

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%




o
w
(&)

Millions

o
w
o

$2.5

$2.0

Option 3:
Fund
Balance

$1.5

$1.0

$0.5

$0.0

FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

mmm Ending Balance == Reserve Target

Revenue Adjustment 102.0% 99.0% -40.0% -30.0% -25.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Debt Issuance -




Option 4




Option 4

= Assumes no debt issuance

= All CIP funded with rates

o Includes Tank 2

= Revenue adjustments fully fund:
o O&M Expenses

o Remaining CIPs
o Healthy reserve balance

Revenue Adjustment 50.0% 14.0% 0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

Debt Issuance



$6.0

v
5 $5.36
= $5.0
$4.0
3.33 .
$3.19 ° 5
3.06
3303 5287 s2e1 9293 ° | O n
$3.0 $2.70 °
$2.52
[ ]
Operating
. Position
$0.0
FY 2026FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036
mmmm \\Vater Purchase  mssm Operating Expense Debt Service
mwwn Capital Paygo = Revenue Current Revenue Adjusted
Revenue Adjustment 50.0% 14.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Debt Issuance -



$7.0

c
9
= $6.0
$5.0
[ ]
- O ptIO n4:
$3.0 °
Fund
Balance
-$1.0
FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
mmm Ending Balance  =———=Reserve Target

Revenue Adjustment 50.0% 14.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Debt Issuance -



Option 5




Option 5
= Assumes no debt issuance

= All CIP funded with rates
o Excludes WTP and Tank 2

= Revenue adjustments fully fund:
o O&M Expenses
o Remaining CIPs (excluding WTP and Tank 2)
o Healthy reserve balance

Revenue Adjustment 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Debt Issuance _




®

$3.33

Millions
5
w
on

$3.19

$2.5

Option 5:
Operating
Position

$2.0

$1.5

$1.0

$0.5

$0.0

FY 2026FY 2027FY 2028FY 2029FY 2030FY 2031FY 2032FY 2033FY 2034FY 2035FY 2036

mmm \Vater Purchase  mmmm Operating Expense Debt Service

mmmm Capital Paygo = Revenue Current Revenue Adjusted

Revenue Adjustment 3.0% 3.0%

Debt Issuance _




$25

Millions

$2.0

Option 5:
I II Fund
Il--l Balance

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
mmm Ending Balance  =——Reserve Target

n

Revenue Adjustment 3.0% 3.0%

Debt Issuance _




District Direction/Comparison of Options

= Option 1
o $8 Million loan to fund WTP and Tank 2
= Option 2
Plan Option| FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 FY 2030 FY 2031
" Option 3 Option 1 15.0% 15.0% 10.0% 6.0% 6.0%
o WTP and Tank 2 funded by rates Option 2 12.0% 12.0% 11.0% 3.0% 3.0%
] Option 3 102.0% 99.0% -40.0% -30.0% -25.0%
" Option 4 Option 4 50.0% 14.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
° Tank 2 funded by rates (No WTP) Option 5 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 6.0%
= Option 5

o Delay WTP and Tank 2 projects
o Fund all other CIP with rates




Report of Income as of 12/31/2025

Month of Year To Budget Appropriation

Income December Date Appropriation Balance
Interest 7,633.13 35,288.20 60,000.00 24,711.80
Taxes 127,254 .41 137,520.66 215,000.00 77,479.34
Pumping Charges 6.60 2,186.48 -- 2,186.48
Fire Protection -- 637.73 -- 637.73
Meter & Inst. Fees -- - -- 0.00
Water Sales 89,096.23 658,529.87 1,027,000.00 368,470.13
' Casitas Water/Standby 4,422.98 135,092.81 -- 135,092.81
MWAC Charges 60,659.83 343,730.41 765,936.00 422,205.59
MCC Chg. 7,406.47 42,022.17 89,736.00 47,713.83
2 Misc. Income 2,889.84 27,786.92 - 27,786.92
Late & Delinquent Chgs. 1,928.18 8,448.26 40,000.00 31,5651.74
Conservation Penalty -- -- -- 0.00
Capital Improvement -- 4,334.42 -- 4,334.42
Drought Surcharge -- -~ -- 0.00
Fire Flow/Will Serve Letters 657.80 2,857.80 6,000.00 3,142.20

- - 0.00

-- -- 0.00
TOTAL INCOME 301,955.47 | 1,398,435.73 2,203,672.00 805,236.27

Note:

! This line item is necessary because these sales are tracked in the expenditures
2 Hartmann Allocation, TORO Temp. Hydrant Meter
Invoices # 4 & 5, ACCU Construction Temp. Hydrant
Meter Deposit, Acacia Environmental Temp. Hydrant
Meter Deposit & US Bank NASPO Payment

Page 42 of 100




Report of Expenses and Budget Appropriations, Current Bills and Appropriations To Date

Meiners Oaks Water District

Month of Year To Budget Approp Bal Current  Approp FY Bal
Expenditures December Date Approp 12/31/25 January To Date
Salaries 69,667.52 |  355,638.91 708,000.00 352,361.09 - 352,361.09
Payroll Taxes 5,316.87 27,719.01 56,500,00 28,780.99 - 28,780.99
Retirement Contributions 9,203.85 53,094.77 98,000.00 44,905.23 - 44,905.23
Group Insurance 10,724.02 54,563.72 110,000.00 55,436.28 - 55,436.28
Company Uniforms 216.73 467.55 3,500.00 3,032.45 - 3,032.45
Phone Office 237.11 1,422.66 3,500.00 2,077.34 - 2,077.34
Janitorial Service 557.16 4,084.67 7,500.00 3.415.33 - 3,415.33
Refuse Disposal 447.73 2,686.38 5,000.00 2,313.62 - 2,313.62
Liability Insurance - 82,825.19 88.000.00 5,174.81 - 5,174.81
Workers Compensation - 28,212.93 30,000.00 1,787.07 - 1,787.07
Wells - 19.48 10,000.00 9,980.52 3,184.01 6,796.51
Truck Maintenance 2,974.88 5,636.46 5,000.00 (636.46) - (636.46)
Office Equipment Maintenance 694.58 2,579.26 5,500.00 2,920.74 - 2,920.74
Security System - 203.70 2,000.00 1,796.30 - 1,796.30
Cell Phones 350.62 2,956.63 4,500.00 1.543,37 - 1,543.37
System Maintenance 3.217.79 22,113.05 60,000.00 37,886.95 - 37,886.95
Safety Equipment 1,367.76 2,193.34 15,000.00 12,806.66 150.57 12,656.09
Laboratory Services 727.00 6,822.00 14,500.00 7,678.00 374.00 7,304.00
Membership and Dues - 9,408.00 10,000.00 592.00 - 592.00
Printing and Binding - 367.46 1,000.00 632.54 - 632.54
Office Supplies 2,332.67 6,418.87 6,000.00 (418.87) - (418.87)
Postage and Express 2,250.29 5,415.96 13,000.00 7,5680.04 - 7,580.04
B.0O.D. Fees 1.250.00 11,750.00 25,000.00 13,250.00 - 13,250.00
Engineering & Technical Services - 12,858.03 60,000.00 47,141.97 - 47,141.97
Computer Services 6,586.19 14,183.43 30,000.00 15,816.57 1,172.95 14,643.62
Other Prof. & Regulatory Fees 18,119.70 34,780.31 80,000.00 45,219.69 2,205.00 43,014.69
Public and Legal Notices - - 2,000.00 2,000.00 - 2,000.00
Attorney Fees 1,672.50 6,462.50 20,000.00 13,537.50 1,040.00 12,497.50
GSA Fees - 82,992.00 80,000.00 (2,992.00) - (2,992.00)
VR/SBC/City of VTA Law Suit 188.60 4,449.40 30,000.00 25,550.60 - 25,550.60
Rental Equipment - - 10,000.00 10,000.00 - 10,000.00
Audit Fees 10,000.00 20,500.00 22,000.00 1,500.00 - 1,500.00
Small Tools 434.21 1,638.59 5,000.00 3,361.41 - 3,361.41
Election Supplies - - 1,000.00 1,000.00 - 1,000.00
Treatment Plant 2,262.80 2,754.14 12,000.00 9,245.86 - 9,245.86
Fuel 1,129.32 8,314.88 20,000.00 11.685.12 - 11,685.12
Travel Exp./Seminars 746.36 1,287.70 2,000.00 712.30 - 712.30
Utilities 648.11 1,832.53 3,500.00 1,667.47 - 1,667.47
Power and Pumping 15,841.80 28,537.93 97,000.00 68,462.07 - 68,462.07
Purchased Water 2,467.44 361,167.06 50,000.00 | (311.167.06) - (311,167.086)
CMWD Standby Passthrough Fees 4,227.25 25,363.50 40,000.00 14,636.50 - 14,636.50
Meters 6,597.57 40,315.20 50,000.00 9.684.80 - 9,684.80
BackFlow Program - - 25,000.00 25,000.00 - 25,000.00
Online AutoPay Transactions Fees 2,657.75 5,029.50 8,000.00 2,970.50 - 2,970.50
Total Expenditures 185,016.18 | 1,339,070.70 | 1,929,000.00 589,929.30 8,126.53 581,802.77
Water Distribution System - - - - - -
Valve Replacements - 26,781.72 66,500.00 39,718.28 - 39,718.28
Structures and Improvements - - - - - -
Office BackUp Battery Power - - 30,000.00 30,000.00 - 30,000.00
Field Equipment - - - - - -
Chlorine Alarms - - 10,000.00 10,000.00 - 10,000.00
Storage Container - Yard - - 8,500.00 8,500.00 - 8,500.00
Appropriations for Contingencies 12,596.99 91,850.23 100,000.00 8,149.77 - 8,149.77
Total CIP Spending 12,596.99 118,631.95 215,000.00 96,368.05 - 96,368.05
GRAND TOTAL 197.613.17 | 1,457,702.65 | 2,144,000.00 686,297.35 8,126.53 678,170.82

Page 43 of T00




Check Report

Meiner's Oaks County Water District, CA By Vendor Name

A

§ [{ TN (3} Date Range: 12/16/2025 - 01/15/2026

(605) 646-2114
202 WEST ELROBLARDRIVE

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Date Payment Type Discount Amount Payment Amount Number
Payable # Payable Type Post Date Payable Description Discount Amount Payable Amount

Bank Code: AP Bank-AP Bank

ACACIA Acacia Environmental 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 907.10 12008
1 Invoice 12/29/2025 Hydrant Meter Rental Refund 0.00 907.10

AQUA-F Aqua-Flo Supply 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 78.24 12026
512657025 Invoice 12/02/2025 Parts for Well 4 0.00 78.24

AUTOSU Automotive Supply - Ojai 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 206.42 12027
631657 Invoice 12/04/2025 Battery,Fuse,Tools 0.00 206.42

BADGER Badger Meter 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 2,369.10 12009
1776181 Invoice 12/17/2025 3" Meter 0.00 2,291.34
80222410 Invoice 12/24/2025 Beacon Hosting 0.00 77.76

CALPERS California Public Employees' Retirement 12/31/2025 Bank Draft 0.00 5,896.20 DFT0002547
INV0003064 Invoice 12/15/2025 Health 0.00 5,896.20

CALPERS California Public Employees’ Retirement 12/22/2025 Bank Draft 0.00 8.59 DFT0002554
121525 Invoice 12/15/2025 Admin Fee 0.00 8.59

CALPERS California Public Employees' Retirement 12/31/2025 Bank Draft 0.00 5,896.18 DFT0002556
INV0003074 Invoice 12/31/2025 Health 0.00 5,896.18

CMWD Casitas Municipal Water District 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 6,694.69 12028
261151225 Invoice 12/31/2025 Fairview Standby 0.00 1,970.05
261151225-2 Invoice 12/31/2025 Fairview Purchased Water 0.00 2,467.44
262001225 Invoice 12/31/2025 Hartmann Alllocation 0.00 287.15
300651225 Invoice 12/31/2025 Tico/La Luna Standby 0.00 1,970.05

CATALINA Catalina Paints 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 119.71 12010
01039297 Invoice 12/05/2025 Hydrant Paint 0.00 119.71

CLEANCO Cleancoast Janitorial 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 340.00 12011
12 Invoice 12/27/2025 December Janitorial 0.00 340.00

CVTDEP County of Ventura Transport. Dept. 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 1,885.00 12029
406284 Invoice 12/23/2025 Administrative Excavation Rider Permit 0.00 1,885.00

DATAP Dataprose LLC 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 2,089.95 12012
DP2505395 Invoice 12/01/2025 Bulk Billing & Postage 0.00 2,089.95

EJHAR E. I. Harrison Rolloffs, Inc. 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 447.73 12013
281301225 Invoice 12/17/2025 Office Trash 0.00 185.40
994261225 Invoice 12/10/2025 2680 Maricopa Hwy. 0.00 262.33

FGLENV FGL Environmental 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 197.00 12014
521071A Invoice 12/18/2025 Samples 0.00 113.00
521072A Invoice 12/19/2025 Samples 0.00 39.00
521100A Invoice 12/18/2025 Samples 0.00 45.00

FGLENV FGL Environmental 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 560.00 12030
521073A Invoice 01/02/2026 Samples 0.00 143.00
521557A Invoice 12/31/2025 Samples 0.00 73.00
521558A Invoice 01/02/2026 Samples 0.00 39.00
521559A Invoice 12/31/2025 Samples 0.00 113.00
521560A Invoice 01/02/2026 Samples 0.00 79.00
521958A Invoice 01/05/2026 Samples 0.00 113.00

1/14/2026 9:47:25 AM Page 44 of 100 Page 1 of 6



Check Report

Vendor Number
Payable #

FH PUMPS
95643
95644

GRAINGER
9768041262

GREG RENTS
81833-1

HLTHNE
61791225

HCS

Icl

LYTWAVE
18704

MOHARD
134576
134578
134642
134678
134756
134994
135023
135025
135336
135385
135942

MITEC
1074700
1074770
1074774
1074779
083485
QB3432
QB3538

MITEC
1074856
1074869
QB3579
0B3589
0B3594
QB3700

NCK&K
16875

Vendor Name
Payable Type
FH Pumps
Invoice
Invoice

Grainger
Invoice

Greg Rents
Invoice

Post Date

01/06/2026
01/06/2026

01/12/2026

12/30/2025

Health Net Life Insurance Company

Invoice

Herum/Crabtree/Suntag

Invoice

JCI Jones Chemical, Inc.
Invoice
Credit Memo

Lytwave
Invoice

Meiners Oaks Hardware
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

MiTec Solutions LLC
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

MiTec Solutions LLC
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

12/02/2025

12/31/2025

12/01/2025
12/01/2025

12/15/2025

12/01/2025
12/01/2025
12/02/2025
12/02/2025
12/03/2025
12/05/2025
12/05/2025
12/05/2025
12/08/2025
12/09/2025
12/14/2025
12/16/2025
12/17/2025
12/19/2025
12/22/2025
12/23/2025
12/23/2025

12/12/2025
12/19/2025
12/22/2025
12/22/2025
12/15/2025
12/15/2025
12/15/2025

01/06/2026
01/07/2026
01/01/2026
01/01/2026
01/01/2026
01/01/2026

Nelson Comis Kettle & Kinney, LLP

Invoice

01/06/2026

Payment Date Payment Type
Payable Description

01/13/2026 Regular
PumplHP
Pump 2HP

01/13/2026 Regular
Full Body Harness

01/13/2026 Regular

Vibe Plates/Decomposed Granite

12/29/2025 Regular
Life Insurance

01/13/2026 Regular
SBCK vs VTA

12/29/2025 Regular
Chlorine
Container Return

12/29/2025 Regular

VolP/Elevate Communications

01/13/2026 Regular
Paint for Wharf Head
Cement

Rubbing Alcohol,Magnet, Bolts & Screws
Bolts & Screws

Primer Spray,Screwdriver

Storage Totes

Hardware for Shop

Plywood for Walls for Storage Racks in Sh

Shop Towels,Storage Box,Pipe Sealant,etc.

Pipe Sealant,Primer, Moving Tape,etc.
Storage Boxes

Clear Mini Hooks

Notebook, Bucket

Quick Link

Plastic Pails, Buckets

Key Ring, Liquid Chlorinator

Marking Paint, Spraypaint, Silicone

12/29/2025
Remote Labor
Instore Labor
Remote Labor
Data Transfer
SplashTop
0365 Business/x360Cloud
AnitVirus Monthly

Regular

01/13/2026
Data Transfer
Monthly Maintenance
Yearly Domain
Web Hosting/ShareSync
X360Recover
Off Site Back Up

Regular

01/13/2026
Attorney Fees

Regular

Discount Amount

Discount Amount

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00

Date Range: 12/16/2025 - 01/15/2026

Payment Amount Number
Payable Amount

0.00 3,184.01

1,481.56

1,702.45

12031

0.00 107.47
107.47

12032

0.00 298.48
298.48

12033

0.00 66.90
66.90

12015

0.00 188.60
188.60

12034

0.00 2,262.80
2,862.80
-600.00

12016

0.00 237.11
237.11

12017

0.00 908.38
17.25
18.53
42.84

4.01
31.78
64.31
88.41

218.59
188.50
53.06
32.15

3.70
13.74

6.82
19.88
81.42
23.39

12035

0.00 1,301.73 12018
210.00
72.50
60.00
500.00
20.00
379.23
60.00

0.00 1,172.95 12037
500.00
240.00
80.00
74.95
180.00
98.00

0.00 1,040.00 12038
1,040.00

1/14/2026 9:47:25 AM

Page 450f 100 ' 29¢20r6



Check Report

Vendor Number
Payable #

OFFDEP
451807571001
451807955001

OFFDEP
453137812001

PATHIAN
INV0003067
INV0003077

POLLARD
0302584

PRINCIPAL
INV0O003065
INV0003075

PERS
INV0003063

PERS
INV0003066

PERS
INV0003073

PERS
INV0003076

PERS
10000001816520

PERS
10000001816521

RESCOMP
INV6135

RDN
9940

SAMHIL
5661

SECORP
10097773

SCE
OFFELE-1125
TNKFRM1125
WELL1-1125
WELL2-1125
WELL4&71125-2
WELL8-1125
Z-1-1125
Z-2FIRE1125
Z-2PWR1125
Z-3 FIRE1125

SCE
OFFELE-1225
TNKFRM1225
WELL1-1225
WELL2-1225

Vendor Name
Payable Type
Office Depot
Invoice
Invoice

Office Depot
Invoice

Pathian Administrators
Invoice
Invoice

Pollard Water
Invoice

Principal
Invoice
Invoice

Post Date

12/11/2025
12/15/2025

12/19/2025

12/15/2025
12/31/2025

12/17/2025

12/15/2025
12/31/2025

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

12/15/2025

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

12/15/2025

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

12/31/2025

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

12/31/2025

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

01/01/2026

Public Employees' Retirement System

Invoice

Resource Compliance Inc.

Invoice

Robert D. Niehaus, Inc.
Invoice

Sam Hill & Sons, inc.
Invoice

Secorp Industries
Invoice

01/01/2026

01/01/2026

01/05/2026

12/17/2025

01/12/2026

Southern California Edison Co.

Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025
12/19/2025

Southern California Edison Co.

Invoice
Invoice
Invoice
Invoice

12/22/2025
12/22/2025
12/22/2025
12/22/2025

Payment Date Payment Type
Payable Description

12/29/2025 Regular
Wall Calendars
Desk Calendar

01/13/2026 Regular

Paperclips,Legal Pads, Binders

12/29/2025 Regular
HSBS
HSBS

12/29/2025 Regular

Hydrant Meter & Meter Lock

12/29/2025 Regular
Dental
Dental

12/31/2025 Bank Draft
457 Withholdings

12/31/2025 Bank Draft
PERS

12/31/2025 Bank Draft
457 Withholdings

12/31/2025 Bank Draft
PERS

01/08/2026 Bank Draft

Unfunded Accrued Liability

01/08/2026 Bank Draft
Unfunded Accrued Liability

01/13/2026 Regular
Annual Safety Agreement - Chlorine

01/13/2026 Regular
Water Rate Study
01/13/2026 Regular

Service Repair - 182 S. Lomita

01/13/2026
Cylinder Refills

Regular

12/29/2025
Office Electricity
Tank Farm
Well 1
Well 2
Well 4&7
Well 8
Zone 1
Zone 2 Fire
Zone 2 Power
Zone 3 Fire

Regular

01/13/2026
Office Electricity
Tank Farm
Well 1
Well 2

Regular

Discount Amount

Discount Amount

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00 87.51

0.00 133.46

0.00 114.47

0.00 1,910.23

0.00 403.14

0.00 400.00

0.00 4,102.97

0.00 400.00

0.00 5,026.79

0.00 3,974.33

0.00 129.92

0.00 1,165.00

0.00 990.00

0.00 12,556.99

0.00 43.10

0.00 7,376.02

Date Range: 12/16/2025 - 01/15/2026

Payment Amount Number
Payable Amount
12019
78.93

8.58

12039
133.46

12006
57.24
57.23

12020
1,910.23

12007
201.60
201.54

DFT0002546
400.00

DFT0002548
4,102.97

DFT0002555
400.00

DFT0002557
5,026.79

DFT0002565
3,974.33

DFT0002566
129.92

12040
1,165.00

12041
990.00

12042
12,596.99

12043
43.10

12021
212.76
32.73
582.08
819.43
4,801.88
288.26
128.30
86.96
407.34
16.28

0.00 8,892.32 12044

213.78

38.57
157.05
261.07

1/14/2026 9:47:25 AM

Page 46 0f 100 29306



Check Report

Vendor Number

Vendor Name

Payment Date Payment Type

Date Range: 12/16/2025 - 01/15/2026

Discount Amount

Payment Amount Number

Payable # Payable Type Post Date Payable Description Discount Amount Payable Amount
WELL4&71225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Wells 4 & 7 0.00 7,215.62
WELL8-1225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Well 8 0.00 340.82
Z-1-1225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Zone 1 0.00 128.06
Z-2FIRE1225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Zone 2 Fire 0.00 72.91
Z-2PWR1225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Zone 2 Power 0.00 445.82
Z-3FIRE1225 Invoice 12/22/2025 Zone 3 Fire 0.00 18.62

SCGAS Southern California Gas Co. 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 162.49 12045
122 Invoice 12/31/2025 Office Heat 0.00 162.49

SWRCB-DWOCP State Water Resources Control Board DWOCP  12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 60.00 12022
T2JM2025 Invoice 12/24/2025 Martinez - T2 0.00 60.00

TORO Toro Enterprises, Inc. 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 675.45 12023
6 Invoice 12/18/2025 Hydrant Meter Refund 0.00 675.45

TYLER Tyler Technologies, Inc. 12/29/2025 Regular 0.00 580.00 12024
025-538038 Invoice 12/17/2025 FLSA Assistance 0.00 580.00

TYLER Tyler Technologies, Inc. 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 2,811.65 12046
025-538372 Invoice 12/22/2025 Project Management 0.00 250.00
025-539166 Invoice 12/31/2025 Insite Transaction Fees 0.00 2,557.75
025-539667 Invoice 12/31/2025 Utility Billing Notification Calls 0.00 3.90

UAOFSC Underground Service Alert of So.Ca. 01/13/2026 Regular 0.00 50.00 12047
1220250461 Invoice 01/01/2026 Digalerts 0.00 50.00

1/14/2026 9:47:25 AM Page 4 of 6

Page 47 of 100



Check Report

Vendor Number
Payable #

USBANK
AAS121225
AMAZON112625
AMAZON112725
AMAZON120125
AMAZON120225
AMAZON120325
AMAZON120425
AMAZON120525
AMAZON120625
AMAZON120825
AMAZON120925
AMAZON121025
AMAZON121225
AMAZON121325
AMAZON121525
AMAZON121625
AMAZON121725
AMAZON121825
AMAZON121925
AMAZON122025
AMAZON125025
AMAZON128025
DLOE121525
DROPBOX121525
JNDESIGNS12182
JWENT121225
LOWES121025
MITEC120825
MOTIONT121125
0OBC121525
0585121025
POLLARD121825
PRIME121525
RTIC120925
SPECTRUM12162
STARLINK120325
TAXFORMS12122
WHARF121125
ZAIDEES122225

VERIZON
6132062113

WEX
109315897

Vendor Name

Payment Date

Payment Type

Discount Amount

Payable Type Post Date Payable Description Discount Amount
US Bank Corporate Pmt. System 01/13/2026 Regular
Invoice 12/12/2025 Return Meters 0.00
Invoice 12/01/2025 Car Chargers 0.00
Invoice 12/01/2025 Cell Phone Protection Neutralizers 0.00
Invoice 12/09/2025 Umbrellas 0.00
Invoice 12/02/2025 Headlamps,Safety Gloves,Fire Extinguishe 0.00
Invoice 12/03/2025 Insulating Glove Kit 0.00
Invoice 12/04/2025 Headlamps,Pens 0.00
Invoice 12/02/2025 Fire Extinguisher Stickers,Exam Gloves,Per 0.00
Invoice 12/04/2025 MSDS Wall Station,Insulating Glove Kit 0.00
Invoice 12/08/2025 Workbork 0.00
Invoice 12/09/2025 Storage Locker 0.00
Invoice 12/10/2025 Socket Organizer 0.00
Invoice 12/12/2025 Desk Chair 0.00
Invoice 12/08/2025 Latex Gloves,Magnetic Hooks 0.00
Invoice 12/15/2025 Wall Calendar 0.00
Invoice 12/16/2025 Picture Frame 0.00
Credit Memo 12/17/2025 Storage Locker Credit 0.00
Credit Memo 12/17/2025 Shipping Credit 0.00
Invoice 12/19/2025 Protective Coveralls 0.00
Invoice 12/19/2025 Protective Coveralls 0.00
Invoice 12/05/2025 Lotion 0.00
Invoice 12/08/2025 Blue Toilet Dye Strips 0.00
Invoice 12/15/2025 Ball Joints - Ranger 0.00
Invoice 12/15/2025 Drop Box 0.00
Invoice 12/18/2025 Embroidery/Printing 0.00
Invoice 12/12/2025 Portable Restrooms 0.00
Invoice 12/10/2025 Toolbox,Drawers 0.00
Invoice 12/08/2025 New Computer 0.00
Invoice 12/11/2025 Tires,0il Change,Brakes 0.00
Invoice 12/15/2025 Staff XMas Lunch 0.00
Invoice 12/10/2025 Storage Unit 0.00
Invoice 12/18/2025 Hydrant Meter 0.00
Invoice 12/15/2025 Membership 0.00
Invoice 12/09/2025 Tumblers 0.00
Invoice 12/16/2025 Internet 0.00
Invoice 12/03/2025 Internet 0.00
Invoice 12/12/2025 W-2 & 1099 Forms 0.00
Invoice 12/11/2025 Beanies 0.00
Invoice 12/22/2025 Christmas Dinner 0.00
Verizon Wireless 01/13/2026 Regular
Invoice 12/26/2025 Cell Phones 0.00
WEX BANK 12/29/2025 Regular
Invoice 12/15/2025 Fuel 0.00
Bank Code AP Bank Summary
Payable Payment
Payment Type Count Count Discount Payment
Regular Checks 145 43 0.00 79,171.92
Manual Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00
Voided Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00
Bank Drafts 9 9 0.00 25,834.98
EFT's 0 0 0.00 0.00
154 52 0.00 105,006.90

0.00

0.00

0.00

Date Range: 12/16/2025 - 01/15/2026

Payable Amount

160.34
38.70
64.34

128.52

138.81

206.33
29.54

231.36

598.06
20.68

185.53
20.20

128.60
36.95
20.60
10.71

-174.82
-10.71
52.55
49.95
13.66
32.16
1,099.76

900.00

109.25

217.16

434.21

2,903.85
1,668.70
183.90
212.00
1,910.23
16.08

202.82

121.25

120.00

225.57

107.48

562.46

350.62

1,129.32

Payment Amount Number

12,976.78 12048

350.62 12052

1,129.32 12025

1/14/2026 9:47:25 AM

G877

Page 48 of 100

Page 5 of 6



Monthly Expenditures Past 24 Months o
$450,000.00 Liability Ins, WC &

memberships, GSA
$400,000.00 Liability Ins, WC &

memberships, GSA

$350,000.00 Emergency
Generator Well 4a
$300,000.00 Rehab
$250,000.00
$200,000.00
$150,000.00
$100,000.00
$50,000.00 I I
™ < < < < < < < < < < < < n n n n n n n n n n n n
I a a\ 2 I I d a o 2 D a o a a o o 2 o a o a I Q a
o f=4 o) 3 = > c = o0 Q B > o c Ke) = = > c = oo Q + > o
& = ¢ 2 2 £ 32 =5 2 &5 2 &8 5 ¢ 2 2 & 2 5 2 8 0c &2 8
N Expenses W Capital

Total Expense

Monthly Income & Total Expenses Past 24 Months
$450,000.00

$400,000.00

$350,000.00

Income: Taxes
Income: Taxes
$300,000.00

Income: Taxes
$250,000.00 Income: T

i I I I]cor’ﬁe | I i

W Total Expense M Income

$200,000.00

$150,000.00
$100,000.00
$50,000.00
$0.00

Dec-23
Jan-24
Feb-24
Mar-24
Apr-24
May-24
Jun-24
Jul-24
Aug-24
Sep-24
Oct-24
Nov-24
Dec-24
Jan-25
Feb-25
Mar-25
Apr-25
May-25
Jun-25
Jul-25
Aug-25
Sep-25
Oct-25
Nov-25
Dec-25

Page 49 of 100



$1,800,000.00
$1,600,000.00
$1,400,000.00
$1,200,000.00
$1,000,000.00
$800,000.00
$600,000.00
$400,000.00
$200,000.00

S-

District Reserves

GSA Fees, GSA Fees,

Annual Annual
insurances insurances

GM transfers MM
to Gen Fund &

LAIF
® ® ® ® ® g
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025  YTD 2026

=@=—County Reserves ($) ~ ==@==LAIF ($) ==@=Money Market ($)

Page 50 of 100



Board Committee Membership 2026

Executive Committee

The executive committee consists of the President and Vice-President of the Board; they will meet

Mike Etchart and make recommendations to the Board on legal matters, personnel matters with regard to the
Chris Oakland benefits, and major policy issues.

Budget & Rates The budget committee will work with the General Manager to prepare and recommend the District's
Christy Cooper annual budget and proposed water rates. It will also oversee and ensure Prop 218 compliance.
Chris Oakland

Allocations, New Meters &
Expansion of Services
Jim Kentosh

Joe Pangea

The Allocations, New Meters and Expansion of Services committee will work with the G.M. to
develop and recommend policies to the Board to help the District and its customers manage
issuance of new meters and services, in relation to current and future conditions, including water
shortage emergency declarations. Additionally, the committee is responsible for the District's
allocation program and waiver requests.

Emergency Preparedness &

The Emergency Preparedness and Safety committee will work with the G.M. to develop and

Safety recommend policies and actions to the Board to help the District and its customers mitigate current
Chris Oakland and future safety risks.

Joe Pangea

Grants The Grants committee will work with staff to identify grant funding opportunities, support the grant
Mike Etchart application process and grant activity monitoring and reporting.

Christy Cooper

Ad Hoc Treatment Plan The Ad Hoc Treatment Plant committee will work with staff and consultants to support the design
Funding & Design completion process and help identify funding opportunities.

Jim Kentosh

Christy Cooper

Board Representatives:

UVRGA

Jim Kentosh
Alt:

Justin Martinez

The GSA committee is responsible for MOWD’s oversight of the policies, operations, budgets and
fees, work products and implementation actions of the Upper Ventura River Groundwater

Agency. The committee reviews work products, agreements and contracts; makes
recommendations; attends meetings and workshops; and may participate in subcommittees of the
UVRGA. One committee member will represent MOWD on the Board of Directors of UVRGA, and
the other member will serve as alternate director.

Ventura River Watershed
Council
Christy Cooper

Alt: Justin Martinez

The Ventura River Watershed Council is a stakeholder group for watershed planning in the Ventura
River Watershed. It is an open group with active participation by government agencies, water and
sanitation districts, environmental and educational non-profits, agricultural organizations,
community volunteer groups, as well as engineers, biologists, businesses and private citizens.

Matilija Dam Removal
Justin Martinez

The G.M. will participate in the Ventura County Matilija Dam Removal project and report to the
Board any updates that would pertain to MOWD.

Mediation Principals
Jim Kentosh

Christy Cooper

Alt: Mike Etchart
Justin Martinez
Summer Ward

The principals represent the District in the Ventura River Watershed Adjudication mediation.
Representatives will participate in the confidential legal mediation sessions working toward a
settlement.

Updated 01/2026

Page 51 of 100




o U b~ W

10
11

12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19

20
21
22

23
24

25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35

Meiners Oaks Water District
Resolution No. 20260120

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MEINERS OAKS
WATER DISTRICT APPOINTING DIRECTOR AND ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UPPER VENTURA RIVER GROUNDWATER
AGENCY JOINT POWERS 2026-2028

WHEREAS, the Casitas Municipal Water District, the City of San Buenaventura,
the County of Ventura, the Meiners Oaks Water District (MOWD), and the Ventura River
Water District (“Member Agency” or “ Member Agencies”) have entered into a joint
exercise of powers agreement (“JPA”) creating the Upper Ventura River Groundwater
Agency (“UVR Groundwater Agency”); and

WHEREAS, the JPA requires the governing board of each Member Agency to
appoint a Director to the UVR Groundwater Agency Board of Directors (“UVR
Groundwater Agency Board”) as well as an Alternate to represent MOWD's interests in
the absence of the Director; and

WHEREAS, in order to be eligible for appointment as a Director or Alternate
Director, an individual shall be either a member of MOWD’s staff or of the Board of
Directors and shall cease to be a Director or Alternate when no longer a member of the
MOWD’s staff or of the Board of Directors; and

WHEREAS, the Director and Alternate shall serve for a period of two years, as
will be determined by resolution at the first regular meeting of the UVR Groundwater
Agency Board; and

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Meiners Oaks
Water District, as follows:

1. All the recitals in this resolution are true and correct and the Meiners Oaks
Water District so finds, determines and represents.

2. The Meiners Oaks Water District Board of Directors hereby appoints
James Kentosh as the Director and appoints Justin Martinez as the
Alternate to represent the Meiners Oaks Water District on the UVR
Groundwater Agency Board.

3. The individuals appointed as the Director and Alternate are both a
member of the Meiners Oaks Water District’s staff or of the Board of
Directors, as required by the JPA.

4. The MOWD Board of Directors hereby confirms that the Director and
Alternate appointed pursuant to this resolution are authorized to represent

Page 52 of 100



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

MOWD'’s interest with respect to all matters that come before the UVR
Groundwater Agency Board.
5. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon passage and adoption.

WE, THE UNDERSIGNED, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing

Resolution No. 20260120, replacing Resolution No. 20240116, was duly adopted and
passed by the Meiners Oaks Water Board of Directors at a regularly scheduled meeting
held on the 20" day of January, 2026, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

, President

Meiners Oaks Water District

ATTEST:

Summer Ward, Board Secretary

Page 53 of 100



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

s g)_ ]
,@mn,\ LG orrilet,
fires / LEGISLATIVE INFORMATION

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Code: |Select Code v| Section: 1 or2or 1001 @

Up~r Add To My Favorites
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81.)
DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. )
PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] (
Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81.)

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. )

54950. In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and declares that the public commissions, boards and councils
and the other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the conduct of the people’s business. It is the intent of the
law that their actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly.

The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them. The people, in delegating
authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not
good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may retain control over the
instruments they have created.

(Added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588.)

54950.5. Thijs chapter shall be known as the Ralph M. Brown Act.
(Added by Stats. 1961, Ch. 115.)

54951. As used in this chapter, “local agency” means a county, city, whether general law or chartered, city and
county, town, school district, municipal corporation, district, political subdivision, or any board, commission or
agency thereof, or other local public agency.

(Amended by Stats. 1959, Ch. 1417.)

54952. As used in this chapter, “legislative body” means:
(a) The governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state or federal statute.

(b) A commission, committee, board, or other body of a local agency, whether permanent or temporary,
decisionmaking or advisory, created by charter, ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body.
However, advisory committees, composed solely of the members of the legislative body that are less than a quorum
of the legislative body are not legislative bodies, except that standing committees of a legislative body, irrespective
of their composition, which have a continuing subject matter jurisdiction, or a meeting schedule fixed by charter,
ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body are legislative bodies for purposes of this chapter.

(c) (1) A board, commission, committee, or other multimember body that governs a private corporation, limited
liability company, or other entity that either:

(A) Is created by the elected legislative body in order to exercise authority that may lawfully be delegated by
the elected governing body to a private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity.

(B) Receives funds from a local agency and the membership of whose governing body includes a member of
the legislative body of the local agency appointed to that governing body as a full voting member by the
legislative body of the local agency.

(2) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), no board, commission, committee, or other multimember
body that governs a private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity that receives funds from a local

agency and, as of February 9, 1996, has a member of the legislative body of the local agency as anaugI(Ia 3%'?900

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 1/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54950.','6.2.1.22','1953','1588','', 'id_c2852197-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54950.5.','6.2.1.22','1961','115','', 'id_c2852199-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54951.','6.2.1.22','1959','1417','', 'id_c286a83b-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.','6.2.1.22','2002','1073','2', 'id_c286a83d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=&goUp=Y

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

member of the governing body of that private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity shall be
relieved from the public meeting requirements of this chapter by virtue of a change in status of the full voting
member to a nonvoting member.

(d) The lessee of any hospital the whole or part of which is first leased pursuant to subdivision (p) of Section 32121
of the Health and Safety Code after January 1, 1994, where the lessee exercises any material authority of a
legislative body of a local agency delegated to it by that legislative body whether the lessee is organized and
operated by the local agency or by a delegated authority.

(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1073, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.)

54952.1. Any person elected to serve as a member of a legislative body who has not yet assumed the duties of
office shall conform his or her conduct to the requirements of this chapter and shall be treated for purposes of
enforcement of this chapter as if he or she has already assumed office.

(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 2. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.)

54952.2. (a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the members of a
legislative body at the same time and location, including teleconference location as permitted by Section 54953, to
hear, discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative
body.

(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting authorized by this chapter, use
a series of communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on
any item of business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official of a local agency, from engaging in
separate conversations or communications outside of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a
legislative body in order to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that is within the subject
matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does not communicate to members of the legislative body
the comments or position of any other member or members of the legislative body.

(3) (A) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing a member of the legislative body from engaging in
separate conversations or communications on an internet-based social media platform to answer questions,
provide information to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is within the
subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body provided that a majority of the members of the legislative body
do not use the internet-based social media platform to discuss among themselves business of a specific nature
that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. A member of the legislative body shall not
respond directly to any communication on an internet-based social media platform regarding a matter that is
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body that is made, posted, or shared by any other member
of the legislative body.

(B) For purposes of this paragraph, all of the following definitions shall apply:

(i) “Discuss among themselves” means communications made, posted, or shared on an internet-based
social media platform between members of a legislative body, including comments or use of digital icons
that express reactions to communications made by other members of the legislative body.

(ii) “Internet-based social media platform” means an online service that is open and accessible to the
public.

(iii) “Open and accessible to the public” means that members of the general public have the ability to
access and participate, free of charge, in the social media platform without the approval by the social media
platform or a person or entity other than the social media platform, including any forum and chatroom, and
cannot be blocked from doing so, except when the internet-based social media platform determines that an
individual violated its protocols or rules.

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any of the following:

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body and any other person that do not
violate subdivision (b).

Page 55 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 2/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.1.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','2', 'id_c286a83f-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.2.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','1', 'id_bf98291f-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a conference or similar gathering open
to the public that involves a discussion of issues of general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type
represented by the legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves,
other than as part of the scheduled program, business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter
jurisdiction of the local agency. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the public free
admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the organizers have required other participants or
registrants to pay fees or charges as a condition of attendance.

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open and publicized meeting
organized to address a topic of local community concern by a person or organization other than the local agency,
provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled
program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the
local agency.

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open and noticed meeting of another
body of the local agency, or at an open and noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency,
provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled
meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the
local agency.

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely social or ceremonial occasion,
provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency.

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open and noticed meeting of a
standing committee of that body, provided that the members of the legislative body who are not members of the
standing committee attend only as observers.

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 89, Sec. 1) by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 1. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54952.3. (a) A legislative body that has convened a meeting and whose membership constitutes a quorum of any
other legislative body may convene a meeting of that other legislative body, simultaneously or in serial order, only if
a clerk or a member of the convened legislative body verbally announces, prior to convening any simultaneous or
serial order meeting of that subsequent legislative body, the amount of compensation or stipend, if any, that each
member will be entitled to receive as a result of convening the simultaneous or serial meeting of the subsequent
legislative body and identifies that the compensation or stipend shall be provided as a result of convening a

meeting for which each member is entitled to collect compensation or a stipend. However, the clerk or member of
the legislative body shall not be required to announce the amount of compensation if the amount of compensation
is prescribed in statute and no additional compensation has been authorized by a local agency.

(b) For purposes of this section, compensation and stipend shall not include amounts reimbursed for actual and
necessary expenses incurred by a member in the performance of the member’s official duties, including, but not
limited to, reimbursement of expenses relating to travel, meals, and lodging.

(Added by Stats. 2011, Ch. 91, Sec. 1. (AB 23) Effective January 1, 2012.)

54952.6. As used in this chapter, “action taken” means a collective decision made by a majority of the members of a
legislative body, a collective commitment or promise by a majority of the members of a legislative body to make a
positive or a negative decision, or an actual vote by a majority of the members of a legislative body when sitting as
a body or entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order or ordinance.

(Added by Stats. 1961, Ch. 1671.)

54952.7. A |ocal agency shall provide a copy of this chapter to any person elected or appointed to serve as a
member of a legislative body of the local agency.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 3. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing

for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or p5r60c]§1egéng
age 56 o

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 3/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.3.','6.2.1.22','2011','91','1', 'id_b835b4d5-22c3-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.6.','6.2.1.22','1961','1671','', 'id_c2882ee3-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.7.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','3', 'id_c47ce841-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','4', 'id_c991b813-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise applicable
requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting or
proceeding.
(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any meeting
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use
teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall.

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this
chapter.

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall provide
an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting
or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at
least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of
the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as expressly provided in this chapter.

(4) The teleconferencing requirements of this subdivision shall not apply to remote participation described in
subdivision (c).

(c) (1) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prohibit a member of a legislative body with a disability from
participating in any meeting of the legislative body by remote participation as a reasonable accommodation
pursuant to any applicable law.

(2) A member of a legislative body participating in a meeting by remote participation pursuant to this subdivision
shall do both of the following:

(A) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology, except that any member with a
disability, as defined in Section 12102 of Title 42 of the United States Code, may participate only through
audio technology if a physical condition related to their disability results in a need to participate off camera.

(B) The member shall disclose at the meeting before any action is taken, whether any other individuals 18
years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and the general nature
of the member’s relationship with any of those individuals.

(3) Remote participation under this subdivision shall be treated as in-person attendance at the physical meeting
location for all purposes, including any requirement that a quorum of the legislative body participate from any
particular location. The provisions of subdivision (b) and Sections 54953.8 to 54953.8.7, inclusive, shall not apply
to remote participation under this subdivision.

(d) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on that
action of each member present for the action.

(3) (A) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a
final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of either of the
following during the open meeting in which the final action is to be taken:

(i) A local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1.
(ii) A department head or other similar administrative officer of the local agency.

(B) This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Division 10
(commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the process
of developing the recommendation.

(e) For purposes of this section, both of the following definitions apply:

Page 57 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 4/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(1) “Disability” means a physical disability or a mental disability as those terms are defined in Section 12926 and
used in Section 12926.1, or a disability as defined in Section 12102 of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(2) (A) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), “teleconference” does not include one or more members watching or
listening to a meeting via webcasting or any other similar electronic medium that does not permit members to
interactively speak, discuss, or deliberate on matters.

(3) "Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at a location other than any
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 534, Sec. 2) by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 4. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.1. The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to prohibit the members of the legislative body of a
local agency from giving testimony in private before a grand jury, either as individuals or as a body.

(Added by Stats. 1979, Ch. 950.)

54953.2. Al meetings of a legislative body of a local agency that are open and public shall meet the protections and
prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the
federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.

(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 300, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 2003.)

54953.3. A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a meeting of a legislative
body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to provide other information, to complete a questionnaire, or
otherwise to fulfill any condition precedent to his or her attendance.

If an attendance list, register, questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at or near the entrance to the
room where the meeting is to be held, or is circulated to the persons present during the meeting, it shall state
clearly that the signing, registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, and that all persons may attend
the meeting regardless of whether a person signs, registers, or completes the document.

(Amended by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 28.)

54953.4. (a) The Legislature finds and declares that public access, including through translation of agendas as
required by this section, is necessary for an informed populace. The Legislature encourages local agencies to adopt
public access requirements that exceed the requirements of this chapter by translating additional languages,
employing human translators, and conducting additional outreach.

(b) (1) In addition to any other applicable requirements of this chapter, a meeting held by a eligible legislative body
pursuant to this chapter shall comply with both of the following requirements:

(A) (i) (I) (ia) All open and public meetings shall include an opportunity for members of the public to attend
via a two-way telephonic service or a two-way audiovisual platform, except if adequate telephonic or internet
service is not operational at the meeting location. If adequate telephonic or internet service is operational at
the meeting location during only a portion of the meeting, the legislative body shall include an opportunity for
members of the public to attend via a two-way telephonic service or a two-way audiovisual platform during
that portion of the meeting.

(ib) (Ia) On or before July 1, 2026, an eligible legislative body shall approve at a noticed public
meeting in open session, not on the consent calendar, a policy regarding disruption of telephonic or
internet service occurring during meetings subject to this sub-subclause. The policy shall address the
procedures for recessing and reconvening a meeting in the event of disruption and the efforts that the
eligible legislative body shall make to attempt to restore the service.

(Ib) If a disruption of telephonic or internet service that prevents members of the public from
attending or observing the meeting via the two-way telephonic service or two-way audiovisual
platform occurs during the meeting, the eligible legislative body shall recess the open session of
the meeting for at least one hour and make a good faith attempt to restore the service. The
eligible legislative body may meet in closed session during this period. The eligible legislative body

Page 58 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 5/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.1.','6.2.1.22','1979','950','', 'id_c2882ee9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.2.','6.2.1.22','2002','300','5', 'id_c2882eeb-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.3.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','28', 'id_c2882eed-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.4.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','5', 'id_da1ecb65-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM

Codes Display Text

shall not reconvene the open session of the meeting until at least one hour following the
disruption, or until telephonic or internet service is restored, whichever is earlier.

(Ic) Upon reconvening the open session, if telephonic or internet service has not been restored,
the eligible legislative body shall adopt a finding by rollcall vote that good faith efforts to restore
the telephonic or internet service have been made in accordance with the policy adopted pursuant
to sub-sub-subclause (Ia) and that the public interest in continuing the meeting outweighs the
public interest in remote public access.

(II) Subclause (I) does not apply to a meeting that is held to do any of the following:
(ia) Attend a judicial or administrative proceeding to which the local agency is a party.

(ib) Inspect real or personal property provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items
directly related to the real or personal property.

(ic) Meet with elected or appointed officials of the United States or the State of California, solely to
discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local agency and over which the federal or state
officials have jurisdiction.

(id) Meet in or nearby a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited
to items directly related to the facility.

(ie) Meet in an emergency situation pursuant to Section 54956.5.

(ii) If an eligible legislative body elects to provide a two-way audiovisual platform, the eligible legislative
body shall publicly post and provide a call-in option, and activate any automatic captioning function during
the meeting if an automatic captioning function is included with the two-way audiovisual platform. If an
eligible legislative body does not elect to provide a two-way audiovisual platform, the eligible legislative
body shall provide a two-way telephonic service for the public to participate in the meeting, pursuant to
subclause (I).

(B) (i) All open and public meetings for which attendance via a two-way telephonic service or a two-way
audiovisual platform is provided in accordance with paragraph (1) shall provide the public with an opportunity
to provide public comment in accordance with Section 54954.3 via the two-way telephonic or two-way
audiovisual platform, and ensure the opportunity for the members of the public participating via a two-way
telephonic or two-way audiovisual platform to provide public comment with the same time allotment as a
person attending a meeting in person.

(2) (A) An eligible legislative body shall reasonably assist members of the public who wish to translate a public
meeting into any language or wish to receive interpretation provided by another member of the public, so long as
the interpretation is not disrupting to the meeting, as defined in Section 54957.95. The eligible legislative body
shall publicize instructions on how to request assistance under this subdivision. Assistance may include any of the
following, as determined by the eligible legislative body:

(i) Arranging space for one or more interpreters at the meeting location.
(ii) Allowing extra time during the meeting for interpretation to occur.

(iii) Ensuring participants may utilize their personal equipment or reasonably access facilities for
participants to access commercially available interpretation services.

(B) This section does not require an eligible legislative body to provide interpretation of any public meeting,
however, an eligible legislative body may elect to provide interpretation of any public meeting.

(C) The eligible legislative body is not responsible for the content or accuracy of any interpretation facilitated,
assisted with, or provided under this subdivision. An action shall not be commenced or maintained against the
eligible legislative body arising from the content or accuracy of any interpretation facilitated, assisted with, or
provided under this subdivision.

(3) An eligible legislative body shall take the following actions to encourage residents, including those in
underrepresented communities and non-English-speaking communities, to participate in public meetings:

(A) Have in place a system for electronically accepting and fulfilling requests for meeting agendas and
documents pursuant to Section 54954.1 through email or through an integrated agenda manag;ggg% of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=

6/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

platform. Information about how to make a request using this system shall be accessible through a prominent
direct link posted on the primary internet website home page of the eligible legislative body.

(B) (i) Create and maintain an accessible internet webpage dedicated to public meetings that includes, or
provides a link to, all of the following information:

(I) A general explanation of the public meeting process for the eligible legislative body.

(II) An explanation of the procedures for a member of the public to provide in-person or remote oral
public comment during a public meeting or to submit written public comment.

(III) A calendar of all public meeting dates with calendar listings that include the date, time, and location
of each public meeting.

(IV) The agenda posted online pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2.

(ii) The eligible legislative body shall include a link to the webpage required by subparagraph (A) on the
home page of the eligible legislative body’s internet website.

(C) (i) Make reasonable efforts, as determined by the legislative body, to invite groups that do not traditionally
participate in public meetings to attend those meetings, which may include, but are not limited to, all the
following:

(I) Media organizations that provide news coverage in the jurisdiction of the eligible legislative body,
including media organizations that serve non-English-speaking communities.

(II) Good government, civil rights, civic engagement, neighborhood, and community group
organizations, or similar organizations that are active in the jurisdiction of the eligible legislative body,
including organizations active in non-English-speaking communities.

(ii) Legislative bodies shall have broad discretion in the choice of reasonable efforts they make under this
subparagraph. No action shall be commenced or maintained against an eligible legislative body arising from
failing to provide public meeting information to any specific group pursuant to this subparagraph.

(c) (1) (A) The agenda for each meeting of an eligible legislative body shall be translated into all applicable
languages, and each translation shall be posted in accordance with Section 54954.2. Each translation shall include
instructions in the applicable language describing how to join the meeting by the telephonic or internet-based
service option, including any requirements for registration for public comment.

(B) The accessible internet webpage provided under subparagraph (B) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) shall
be translated into all applicable languages, and each translation shall be accessible through a prominent direct
link posted on the primary internet website home page of the eligible legislative body.

(2) A translation made using a digital translation service shall satisfy the requirements of paragraph (1).

(3) The eligible legislative body shall make available a physical location that is freely accessible to the public in
reasonable proximity to the physical location in which the agenda and translations are posted as described in
paragraph (1), and shall allow members of the public to post additional translations of the agenda in that
location.

(4) The eligible legislative body is not responsible for the content or accuracy of any translation provided pursuant
to this subdivision. No action shall be commenced or maintained against an eligible legislative body arising from
the content, accuracy, posting, or removal of any translation provided by the eligible legislative body or posted by
any person pursuant to this subdivision.

(5) For the purposes of this section, the agenda does not include the entire agenda packet.
(d) This section shall not be construed to affect or supersede any other applicable civil rights, nondiscrimination, or
public access laws.
(e) For purposes of this section, all of the following definitions apply:

(1) (A) “Applicable languages” means languages, according to data from the most recent American Community
Survey, spoken jointly by 20 percent or more of the applicable population, provided that 20 percent or more of
the population that speaks that language in that city or county speaks English less than “very well.”

(B) For the purposes of subparagraph (A), the applicable population shall be determined as foll%vgé 60 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 7141



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(i) For an eligible legislative body that is a city council or county board of supervisors, the applicable
population shall be the population of the city or county.

(ii) For an eligible legislative body of a special district, the applicable population shall be either of the
following, at the discretion of the board of directors of the special district:

(I) The population of the county with the greatest population within the boundaries of the special
district.

(II) The population of the service area of the special district, if the special district has the data to
determine what languages spoken by the population within its service area meet the requirements of
paragraph (A).

(C) If more than three languages meet the criteria set forth in subparagraph (A), “applicable languages” shall
mean the three languages described in subparagraph (A) that are spoken by the largest percentage of the
population.

(D) An eligible legislative body may elect to determine the applicable languages based upon a source other
than the most recent American Community Survey if it makes a finding, based upon substantial evidence, that
the other source provides equally or more reliable data for the territory over which the eligible legislative body
exercises jurisdiction.

(2) “Eligible legislative body” means any of the following:
(A) A city council of a city with a population of 30,000 or more.
(B) A county board of supervisors of a county, or city and county, with a population of 30,000 or more.
(C) A city council of a city located in a county with a population of 600,000 or more.

(D) The board of directors of a special district that has an internet website and meets any of the following
conditions:

(i) The boundaries of the special district include the entirety of a county with a population of 600,000 or
more, and the special district has over 200 full-time equivalent employees.

(ii) The special district has over 1,000 full-time equivalent employees.

(iii) The special district has annual revenues, based on the most recent Financial Transaction Report data
published by the California State Controller, that exceed four hundred million dollars ($400,000,000),
adjusted annually for inflation commencing January 1, 2027, as measured by the percentage change in the
California Consumer Price Index from January 1 of the prior year to January 1 of the current year, and the
special district employs over 200 full-time equivalent employees.

(3) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic service.

(4) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access and allows
participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally participate.

(f) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026.
(g) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 5. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Operative July 1, 2026, by its own provisions.
Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own provisions.)

54953.5. (a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of a legislative body of a local agency shall have the
right to record the proceedings in the absence of a reasonable finding by the legislative body of the local agency
that the recording cannot continue without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that constitutes, or would
constitute, a persistent disruption of the proceedings.

(b) Any recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by or at the direction of the local
agency shall be subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with
Section 7920.000) of Title 1), but, notwithstanding Section 34090, may be erased or destroyed 30 days after the
recording. Any inspection of an audio or video recording shall be provided without charge on equipment made
available by the local agency. Page 61 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 8/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.5.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','6', 'id_cf4ade35-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 6. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.6. No |egislative body of a local agency shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the broadcast of its open and
public meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding that the broadcast cannot be accomplished without noise,
illumination, or obstruction of view that would constitute a persistent disruption of the proceedings.

(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 6. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.)

54953.7. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, legislative bodies of local agencies may impose requirements
upon themselves which allow greater access to their meetings than prescribed by the minimal standards set forth in
this chapter. In addition thereto, an elected legislative body of a local agency may impose those requirements on
appointed legislative bodies of the local agency.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 7. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.8. (a) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing as authorized by subdivision (b) of
Section 54953 without complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953 in any
of the circumstances described in Sections 54953.8.1 to 54953.8.7, inclusive.

(b) A legislative body that holds a teleconference meeting pursuant to this section shall, in addition to any other
applicable requirements of this chapter, comply with all of the following:

(1) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means by which the public may remotely
hear and visually observe the meeting, and remotely address the legislative body:

(A) A two-way audiovisual platform.
(B) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting.

(2) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconference meeting held pursuant to this section is
otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of
the means by which members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall
identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service
option.

(3) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to members of
the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local
agency'’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option or
internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the meeting
agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or internet-based service option is restored.
Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(4) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and must
provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.

(5) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of an
internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that requires
registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet
website or online platform to participate.

(6) (A) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close the
public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to paragraph (5), to provide
public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(B) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment
separately on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to register
pursuant to paragraph (5), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment.

(C) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a

specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pwésg%a&tgpmo

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 9/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.6.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','6', 'id_c289b591-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.7.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','7', 'id_d44b62b7-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','8', 'id_e09f1217-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

paragraph (5), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(7) Any member of the legislative body who participates in a teleconference meeting from a remote location
pursuant to this section and the specific provision of law that the member relied upon to permit their participation
by teleconferencing shall be listed in the minutes of the meeting.

(8) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for
reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each instance in which
notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the
legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.

(9) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable civil rights and
nondiscrimination laws.

(c) A local agency shall identify and make available to legislative bodies a list of one or more meeting locations that
may be available for use by the legislative bodies to conduct their meetings.

(d) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional
teleconference locations.

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the public with additional physical
locations in which the public may observe and address the legislative body by electronic means.

(e) A member of a legislative body who participates in a teleconference meeting from a remote location pursuant to
this section shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is taken whether any other individuals 18 years
of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, and the general nature of the
member’s relationship with those individuals.

(f) The teleconferencing provisions described in Section 54953 and Sections 54953.8.1 to 54953.8.7, inclusive, are
cumulative. A legislative body may elect to use any teleconferencing provisions that are applicable to a meeting,
regardless of whether any other teleconferencing provisions would also be applicable to that meeting.

(g) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative body participates in a meeting
pursuant to paragraph (7) of subdivision (b), other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of
the meeting. Remote locations need not be accessible to the public.

(2) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different locations,
connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.

(3) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to
participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic service. A two-way
audiovisual platform may be structured to disable the use of video for the public participants.

(4) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access and allows
participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally participate.

(5) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, using streaming media technology
to distribute a single content source to many simultaneous listeners and viewers.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 8. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.8.1. (a) A health authority may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section 54953.8, provided that
it complies with the requirements of that section.

(b) Nothing in this section or Section 54953.8 shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from
regularly meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference
locations within or near the jurisdiction of the authority.

(c) For purposes of this section, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers
authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the purpose
of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory committee to a
county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of
the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

Page 63 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 10/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.1.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','9', 'id_e6ff74b9-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 9. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.8.2. (3) A legislative body of a local agency may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section
54953.8 during a proclaimed state of emergency or local emergency, provided that it complies with the
requirements of that section and the teleconferencing is used in either of the following circumstances:

(1) For the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) After a determination described in paragraph (1) is made that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in
person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(b) If the state of emergency or local emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference pursuant to
this section, the legislative body shall, no later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to
this section, and every 45 days thereafter, make the following findings by majority vote:

(1) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency or local emergency.

(2) The state of emergency or local emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet
safely in person.

(c) This section shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from which the
public may attend or comment.

(d) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953.8, a legislative body conducting a
teleconference meeting pursuant to this section may elect to use a two-way telephonic service without a live
webcasting of the meeting.

(e) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Local emergency” means a condition of extreme peril to persons or property proclaimed by the governing
body of the local agency affected, in accordance with Section 8630 of the California Emergency Services Act
(Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 8550) of Division 1 of Title 2), as defined in Section 8680.9, or a local
health emergency declared pursuant to Section 101080 of the Health and Safety Code. Local emergency, as used
in this section, refers only to local emergencies in the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency
exercises jurisdiction.

(2) “State of emergency” means state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 of the California
Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 8550) of Division 1 of Title 2).

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 10. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54953.8.3. (3) A legislative body of a local agency may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section
54953.8 if, during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be open
to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction,
provided that the legislative body complies with the requirements of Section 54953.8 and all of the following
additional requirements:

(1) A member of the legislative body notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, including at
the start of a regular meeting, of their need to participate remotely for just cause, including a general description
of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting.

(2) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(3) (A) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to
participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for just cause for
more than the following number of meetings, as applicable:

(i) Two meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets once per month or less.

(ii) Five meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets twice per month.

Page 64 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 11/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.2.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','10', 'id_ed002b2b-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.3.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','11', 'id_f31490ad-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(iii) Seven meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets three or more times per month.

(B) For the purpose of counting meetings attended by teleconference under this paragraph, a “*meeting” shall
be defined as any number of meetings of the legislative body of a local agency that begin on the same
calendar day.

(b) The minutes for the meeting shall identify the specific provision in subdivision (c) that each member relied upon
to participate remotely. This subdivision shall not be construed to require the member to disclose any medical
diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information that is otherwise exempt under existing law, including,
but not limited to, the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part
2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code).

(c) For purposes of this section, “just cause” means any of the following:

(1) Childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner
that requires them to participate remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and “sibling” have the
same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2.

(2) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person.
(3) A need related to a physical or mental condition that is not subject to subdivision (c) of Section 54953.
(4) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or local agency.

(5) An immunocompromised child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner of the
member that requires the member to participate remotely.

(6) A physical or family medical emergency that prevents a member from attending in person.

(7) Military service obligations that result in @ member being unable to attend in person because they are serving
under official written orders for active duty, drill, annual training, or any other duty required as a member of the
California National Guard or a United States Military Reserve organization that requires the member to be at least
50 miles outside the boundaries of the local agency.

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 11. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own
provisions.)

54953.8.4. (3) An eligible neighborhood council may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section 54953.8,
provided that it complies with the requirements of that section and all of the following have occurred:

(1) (A) The city council for a city described in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) considers whether to adopt a
resolution to authorize eligible neighborhood councils to use teleconferencing as described in this section at an
open and regular meeting.

(B) If the city council adopts a resolution described in subparagraph (A), an eligible neighborhood council may

elect to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section if a majority of the eligible neighborhood council votes to
do so. The eligible neighborhood council shall notify the city council if it elects to use teleconferencing pursuant
to this section and its justification for doing so.

(C) Upon receiving notification from an eligible neighborhood council described in subparagraph (B), the city
council may adopt a resolution to prohibit the eligible neighborhood council from using teleconferencing
pursuant to this section.

(2) After completing the requirements of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1), an eligible neighborhood council
that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) At least a quorum of the members of the eligible neighborhood council shall participate from locations
within the boundaries of the city in which the eligible neighborhood council is established.

(B) At least once per year, at least a quorum of the members of the eligible neighborhood council shall
participate in person from a singular physical location that is open to the public and within the boundaries of
the eligible neighborhood council.

Page 65 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 12/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.4.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','12', 'id_f9217c1f-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(3) If the meeting is during regular business hours of the offices of the city council member that represents the
area that includes the eligible neighborhood council, the eligible neighborhood council shall provide a publicly
accessible physical location from which the public may attend or comment, which shall be the offices of the city
council member who represents the area where the eligible neighborhood council is located, unless the eligible
neighborhood council identifies an alternative location.

(4) If the meeting is outside regular business hours, the eligible neighborhood council shall make reasonable
efforts to accommodate any member of the public that requests an accommodation to participate in the meeting.

(b) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Accommodation” means providing a publicly accessible physical location for the member of the public to
participate from, providing access to technology necessary to participate in the meeting, or identifying locations
or resources available that could provide the member of the public with an opportunity to participate in the
meeting.

(2) “Eligible neighborhood council” means a neighborhood council that is an advisory body with the purpose to
promote more citizen participation in government and make government more responsive to local needs that is
established pursuant to the charter of a city with a population of more than 3,000,000 people that is subject to
this chapter.

(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 12. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own
provisions.)

54953.8.5. (a) An eligible community college student organization may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant
to Section 54953.8, provided that it complies with the requirements of that section and all of the following
additional requirements:

(1) An eligible community college student organization may only use teleconferencing as described in Section
54953.8 after all the following have occurred:

(A) The board of trustees for a community college district considers whether to adopt a resolution to authorize
eligible community college student organizations to use teleconferencing as described in this section at an
open and regular meeting.

(B) If the board of trustees for a community college district adopts a resolution described in subparagraph (A),
an eligible community college student organization may elect to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section if
a majority of the eligible community college student organization votes to do so. The eligible community
college student organization shall notify the board of trustees if it elects to use teleconferencing pursuant to
this section and its justification for doing so.

(C) Upon receiving notification from an eligible community college student organization as described in
subparagraph (B), the board of trustees may adopt a resolution to prohibit the eligible community college
student organization from using teleconferencing pursuant to this section.

(D) (i) Except as specified in clause (ii), at least a quorum of the members of the eligible community college
student organization shall participate from a singular physical location that is accessible to the public and is
within the community college district in which the eligible community college student organization is
established.
(ii) The requirements described in clause (i) shall not apply to the California Online Community College.
(iii) Notwithstanding the requirements of clause (i), a person may count toward the establishment of a
quorum pursuant to clause (i) regardless of whether the person is participating at the in-person location of
the meeting or remotely if the person meets any of the following criteria:

(I) The person is under 18 years of age.

(II) The person is incarcerated.

Page 66 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 13/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.5.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','13', 'id_ff367de1-cfa5-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(III) The person is unable to disclose the location that they are participating from because of either of
the following circumstances:

(ia) The person has been issued a protective court order, including, but not limited to, a domestic
violence restraining order.

(ib) The person is participating in a program that has to remain confidential, including, but not limited
to, an independent living program.

(IV) The person provides childcare or caregiving to a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling,
spouse, or domestic partner that requires them to participate remotely. For purposes of this subclause,
“child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and “sibling” have the same meaning as those terms are
defined in Section 12945.2.

(2) An eligible community college student organization that holds a meeting by teleconference as described in
Section 54953.8 shall do the following, as applicable:

(A) (i) Except as specified in subparagraph (B), if the meeting is during regular business hours of the offices of
the board of trustees of the community college district, the eligible community college student organization
shall provide a publicly accessible physical location from which the public may attend or comment, which shall
be the offices of the board of trustees of the community college district, unless the eligible community college
student organization identifies an alternative location.

(ii) Except as specified in subparagraph (B), if the meeting is outside regular business hours, the eligible
community college student organization shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate any member of the
public that requests an accommodation to participate in the meeting. For the purposes of this
subparagraph, “accommodation” means providing a publicly accessible physical location for the member of
the public to participate from, providing access to technology necessary to participate in the meeting, or
identifying locations or resources available that could provide the member of the public with an opportunity
to participate in the meeting.

(B) The requirements described in subparagraph (A) shall not apply to the California Online Community
College.

(b) For purposes of this section, “eligible community college student organization” means a student body
association organized pursuant to Section 76060 of the Education Code, or any other student-run community
college organization that is required to comply with the meeting requirements of this chapter, that is in any
community college recognized within the California Community Colleges system and includes the Student Senate
for California Community Colleges.

(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 13. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own
provisions.)

54953.8.6. (a) An eligible subsidiary body may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section 54953.8,
provided that it complies with the requirements of that section and all of the following additional requirements:

(1) The eligible subsidiary body shall designate one physical meeting location within the boundaries of the
legislative body that created the eligible subsidiary body where members of the subsidiary body who are not
participating remotely shall be present and members of the public may physically attend, observe, hear, and
participate in the meeting. At least one staff member of the eligible subsidiary body or the legislative body that
created the eligible subsidiary body shall be present at the physical meeting location during the meeting. The
eligible subsidiary body shall post the agenda at the physical meeting location, but need not post the agenda at a
remote location.

(2) (A) A member of the eligible subsidiary body shall visibly appear on camera during the open portion of a
meeting that is publicly accessible via the internet or other online platform, except if the member has a physical
or mental condition not subject to subdivision (c) of Section 54953 that results in a need to participate off
camera.

(B) The visual appearance of a member of the eligible subsidiary body on camera may cease only when the
appearance would be technologically infeasible, including, but not limited to, when the member experiences a

lack of reliable broadband or internet connectivity that would be remedied by joining without video.
Page 67 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 14/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.6.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','14', 'id_0559fe93-cfa6-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM

Codes Display Text

(C) If a member of the eligible subsidiary body does not appear on camera due to challenges with internet
connectivity, the member shall announce the reason for their nonappearance prior to turning off their camera.

(3) An elected official serving as a member of an eligible subsidiary body in their official capacity shall not
participate in a meeting of the eligible subsidiary body by teleconferencing pursuant to this section unless the use
of teleconferencing complies with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953.

(4) (A) In order to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section, the legislative body that established the eligible
subsidiary body by charter, ordinance, resolution, or other formal action shall make the following findings by
majority vote before the eligible subsidiary body uses teleconferencing pursuant to this section for the first time,
and every six months thereafter:

(i) The legislative body has considered the circumstances of the eligible subsidiary body.

(ii) Teleconference meetings of the eligible subsidiary body would enhance public access to meetings of the
eligible subsidiary body, and the public has been made aware of the type of remote participation, including
audio-visual or telephonic, that will be made available at a regularly scheduled meeting and has been
provided the opportunity to comment at an in-person meeting of the legislative body authorizing the
subsidiary body to meet entirely remotely.

(iii) Teleconference meetings of the eligible subsidiary body would promote the attraction, retention, and
diversity of eligible subsidiary body members.

(B) (i) An eligible subsidiary body authorized to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section may request to
present any recommendations it develops to the legislative body that created it.

(i) Upon receiving a request described in clause (i), the legislative body that created the subsidiary body
shall hold a discussion at a regular meeting held within 60 days after the legislative body receives the
request, or if the legislative body does not have another regular meeting scheduled within 60 days after the
legislative body receives the request, at the next regular meeting after the request is received.

(iii) The discussion required by clause (ii) shall not be placed on a consent calendar, but may be combined
with the legislative body’s subsequent consideration of the findings described in subparagraph (A) for the
following 12 months.

(iv) The legislative body shall not take any action on any recommendations included in the report of a
subsidiary body until the next regular meeting of the legislative body following the discussion described in
clause (ii).

(C) After the legislative body makes the findings described in subparagraph (A), the eligible subsidiary body
shall approve the use of teleconferencing by majority vote before using teleconference pursuant to this
section.

(D) The legislative body that created the eligible subsidiary body may elect to prohibit the eligible subsidiary
body from using teleconferencing pursuant to this section at any time.

(b) (1) For purposes of this section, “eligible subsidiary body” means a legislative body that meets all of the
following:

(A) Is described in subdivision (b) of Section 54952.
(B) Serves exclusively in an advisory capacity.

(C) Is not authorized to take final action on legislation, regulations, contracts, licenses, permits, or any other
entitlements, grants, or allocations of funds.

(D) Does not have primary subject matter jurisdiction, as defined by the charter, an ordinance, a resolution, or
any formal action of the legislative body that created the subsidiary body, that focuses on elections, budgets,
police oversight, privacy, removing from, or restricting access to, materials available in public libraries, or
taxes or related spending proposals.

(2) An eligible subsidiary body may include members who are elected officials, members who are not elected
officials, or any combination thereof.

(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

Page 68 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=

15/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 14. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own
provisions.)

54953.8.7. (a) An eligible multijurisdictional body may conduct a teleconference meeting pursuant to Section
54953.8, provided that it complies with the requirements of that section and all of the following additional
requirements:

(1) The eligible multijurisdictional body has adopted a resolution that authorizes the eligible multijurisdictional
body to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section at a regular meeting in open session.

(2) At least a quorum of the members of the eligible multijurisdictional body shall participate from one or more
physical locations that are open to the public and within the boundaries of the territory over which the local
agency exercises jurisdiction.

(3) A member of the eligible multijurisdictional body who receives compensation for their service on the eligible
multijurisdictional body shall participate from a physical location that is open to the public. For purposes of this
paragraph, “compensation” does not include reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses.

(4) A member of the eligible multijurisdictional body may participate from a remote location provided that:

(A) The eligible multijurisdictional body identifies each member of the eligible multijurisdictional body who
plans to participate remotely in the agenda.

(B) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology.

(5) A member of the eligible multijurisdictional body shall not participate in a meeting remotely pursuant to this
section, unless the location from which the member participates is more than 20 miles each way from any
physical location of the meeting described in paragraph (2).

(6) The provisions of this section shall not serve as a means for any member of a legislative body to participate in
meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from a remote location for more than the following
number of meetings, as applicable:

(A) Two meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets once per month or less.

(B) Five meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets twice per month.

(C) Seven meetings per year, if the legislative body regularly meets three or more times per month.

(D) For the purpose of counting meetings attended by teleconference under this paragraph, a "*meeting” shall
be defined as any number of meetings of the legislative body of a local agency that begin on the same

calendar day.

(b) For the purposes of this section, both of the following definitions apply:

(1) “Eligible multijurisdictional body” means a multijurisdictional board, commission, or advisory body of a
multijurisdictional, cross-county agency, the membership of which board, commission, or advisory body is
appointed, and the board, commission, or advisory body is otherwise subject to this chapter.

(2) “Multijurisdictional” means either of the following:

(A) A legislative body that includes representatives from more than one county, city, city and county, or special
district.

(B) A legislative body of a joint powers entity formed pursuant to an agreement entered into in accordance
with Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1.

(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 15. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026. Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own
provisions.)

Page 69 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 16/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.7.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','15', 'id_0b8f0b75-cfa6-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54954. (3) Each legislative body of a local agency, except for advisory committees or standing committees, shall
provide, by ordinance, resolution, bylaws, or by whatever other rule is required for the conduct of business by that
body, the time and place for holding regular meetings. Meetings of advisory committees or standing committees,
for which an agenda is posted at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section
54954.2, shall be considered for purposes of this chapter as regular meetings of the legislative body.

(b) Regular and special meetings of the legislative body shall be held within the boundaries of the territory over
which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except to do any of the following:

(1) Comply with state or federal law or court order, or attend a judicial or administrative proceeding to which the
local agency is a party.

(2) Inspect real or personal property which cannot be conveniently brought within the boundaries of the territory
over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items
directly related to the real or personal property.

(3) Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance that are outside the boundaries of a local
agency'’s jurisdiction. However, any meeting or discussion held pursuant to this subdivision shall take place within
the jurisdiction of one of the participating local agencies and be noticed by all participating agencies as provided
for in this chapter.

(4) Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting facility within the boundaries of the
territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, or at the principal office of the local agency if that
office is located outside the territory over which the agency exercises jurisdiction.

(5) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction with elected or appointed officials of the United States or the State
of California when a local meeting would be impractical, solely to discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting
the local agency and over which the federal or state officials have jurisdiction.

(6) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction if the meeting takes place in or nearby a facility owned by the
agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the facility.

(7) Visit the office of the local agency’s legal counsel for a closed session on pending litigation held pursuant to
Section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce legal fees or costs.

(c) Meetings of the governing board of a school district shall be held within the district, except under the
circumstances enumerated in subdivision (b), or to do any of the following:

(1) Attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques.

(2) Interview members of the public residing in another district with reference to the trustees’ potential
employment of an applicant for the position of the superintendent of the district.

(3) Interview a potential employee from another district.

(d) Meetings of a joint powers authority shall occur within the territory of at least one of its member agencies, or as
provided in subdivision (b). However, a joint powers authority which has members throughout the state may meet
at any facility in the state which complies with the requirements of Section 54961.

(e) If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to meet in the place designated,
the meetings shall be held for the duration of the emergency at the place designated by the presiding officer of the
legislative body or his or her designee in a notice to the local media that have requested notice pursuant to Section
54956, by the most rapid means of communication available at the time.

(Amended by Stats. 2004, Ch. 257, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2005.)

54954.1. Any person may request that a copy of the agenda, or a copy of all the documents constituting the agenda
packet, of any meeting of a legislative body be mailed to that person. If a local agency has an internet website, the
legislative body or its designee shall email a copy of, or website link to, the agenda or a copy of all the documents
constituting the agenda packet if the person requests that the item or items be delivered by email. If the local
agency determines it is technologically infeasible to send a copy of all documents constituting the agenda packet or
Page 70 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 17/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.','6.2.1.22','2004','257','1', 'id_e302b677-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.1.','6.2.1.22','2021','763','1', 'id_ce88b279-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

a link to a website that contains the documents by email or by other electronic means, the legislative body or its
designee shall send by mail a copy of the agenda or a website link to the agenda and mail a copy of all other
documents constituting the agenda packet in accordance with the mailing requirements established pursuant to this
section. If requested, the agenda and documents in the agenda packet shall be made available in appropriate
alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. Upon
receipt of the written request, the legislative body or its designee shall cause the requested materials to be mailed
at the time the agenda is posted pursuant to Section 54954.2 and 54956 or upon distribution to all, or a majority of
all, of the members of a legislative body, whichever occurs first. Any request for mailed copies of agendas or
agenda packets shall be valid for the calendar year in which it is filed, and must be renewed following January 1 of
each year. The legislative body may establish a fee for mailing the agenda or agenda packet, which fee shall not
exceed the cost of providing the service. Failure of the requesting person to receive the agenda or agenda packet
pursuant to this section shall not constitute grounds for invalidation of the actions of the legislative body taken at
the meeting for which the agenda or agenda packet was not received.

(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 763, Sec. 1. (SB 274) Effective January 1, 2022.)

54954.2. (3) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local agency, or its designee,
shall post an agenda that meets all of the following requirements:

(A) The agenda shall contain a brief general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed
at the meeting, including items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item
generally need not exceed 20 words.

(B) The agenda shall specify the time and location of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that
is freely accessible to members of the public and on the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has
one.

(C) (i) If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a
disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132),
and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.

(i) The agenda shall include information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made by a person with a
disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order to participate in the public meeting.

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county,
special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet website, the
following provisions shall apply:

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary internet website home page of a city,
county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state that is
accessible through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the agenda shall not be in
a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the direct link to the agenda may be accessible through a
contextual menu.

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an agenda posted in an integrated agenda
management platform, shall be posted in an open format that meets all of the following requirements:

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by commonly used internet search
applications.

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable.

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that would impede the reuse or
redistribution of the agenda.

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision
established by the state that has an internet website and an integrated agenda management platform shall not
be required to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met:

Page 71 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 18/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.2.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','16', 'id_d94e5839-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be posted on the primary internet
website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision
established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall not be in a
contextual menu. When a person clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management platform,
the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the agendas of the legislative body
of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the
state.

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior agendas of a legislative body of a
city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state
for all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019.

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school
district, or political subdivision established by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the
integrated agenda management platform.

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform shall comply with the requirements
in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of subparagraph (B).

(D) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of a local agency that was
established by the legislative body of the city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or
political subdivision established by the state.

(E) For purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions apply:

(1) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an internet website of a city, county, city and county,
special district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety
of the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and county, special district, school
district, or political subdivision established by the state to the public.

(2) “Legislative body” means a legislative body that meets the definition of subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except that
members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by persons
exercising their public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative or in response
to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body or its staff may ask a question for clarification,
make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a member of a
legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the legislative body, may provide a reference
to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent
meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda.

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items of business not appearing on the
posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision,
the legislative body shall publicly identify the item.

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an emergency situation exists, as defined
in Section 54956.5.

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative body present at the meeting, or,
if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a
need to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the local agency subsequent
to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision (a).

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the legislative body occurring not more
than five calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was
continued to the meeting at which action is being taken.

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of
Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution.

(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the local agency’s internet
website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a legislative body that meets either of the following
standards:

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

Page 72 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 19/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, if the members of the
legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one or more of the members of the legislative body
are also members of a legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952.

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 131, Sec. 92) by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 16. (SB 707) Effective January 1,
2026.)

54954.3. (a) (1) Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to
directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the public, before or during the legislative body’s
consideration of the item, that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body, provided that no
action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is otherwise authorized by
subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2.

(2) (A) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), the agenda need not provide an opportunity for members of the public to
address the legislative body on any item that has already been considered by a committee, composed exclusively
of members of the legislative body, at a public meeting wherein all interested members of the public were
afforded the opportunity to address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration of
the item.

(B) Subparagraph (A) shall not apply if any of the following conditions are met:

(i) The item has been substantially changed since the committee heard the item, as determined by the
legislative body.

(ii) When considering the item, a quorum of the committee members did not participate from a singular
physical location, that was clearly identified on the agenda, open to the public, and situated within the
boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction.

(iii) The committee has primary subject matter jurisdiction, as defined by the charter, an ordinance, a
resolution, or any formal action of the legislative body that created the subsidiary body, that focuses on
elections, budgets, police oversight, privacy, removing from, or restricting access to, materials available in
public libraries, or taxes or related spending proposals. This clause shall not apply to an item if the local
agency has adopted a law applicable to the meeting of the committee at which the item that was
considered prohibits the committee from placing a limit on the total amount of time for public comment on
the item.

(3) Every notice for a special meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly address
the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice for the meeting before or during
consideration of that item.

(b) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may adopt reasonable regulations to ensure that the intent of
subdivision (a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated
for public testimony on particular issues and for each individual speaker.

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), when the legislative body of a local agency limits time for public comment,
the legislative body of a local agency shall provide at least twice the allotted time to a member of the public who
utilizes a translator to ensure that non-English speakers receive the same opportunity to directly address the
legislative body of a local agency.

(3) Paragraph (2) shall not apply if the legislative body of a local agency utilizes simultaneous translation
equipment in a manner that allows the legislative body of a local agency to hear the translated public testimony
simultaneously.

(c) The legislative body of a local agency shall not prohibit public criticism of the policies, procedures, programs, or
services of the agency, or of the acts or omissions of the legislative body. Nothing in this subdivision shall confer
any privilege or protection for expression beyond that otherwise provided by law.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 17. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54954.4. (3) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that Section 12 of Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986,
authorizing reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for costs mandated by the state pursuant to that
act, shall be interpreted strictly. The intent of the Legislature is to provide reimbursement for only those asis100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 20/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.3.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','17', 'id_df061ecb-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.4.','6.2.1.22','1991','238','1', 'id_c28cc2dd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

which are clearly and unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of compliance with Chapter 641 of
the Statutes of 1986.

(b) In this regard, the Legislature directs all state employees and officials involved in reviewing or authorizing
claims for reimbursement, or otherwise participating in the reimbursement process, to rigorously review each claim
and authorize only those claims, or parts thereof, which represent costs which are clearly and unequivocally
incurred as the direct and necessary result of compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 and for which
complete documentation exists. For purposes of Section 54954.2, costs eligible for reimbursement shall only
include the actual cost to post a single agenda for any one meeting.

(c) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that complete, faithful, and uninterrupted compliance with the Ralph
M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 54950) of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government
Code) is a matter of overriding public importance. Unless specifically stated, no future Budget Act, or related
budget enactments, shall, in any manner, be interpreted to suspend, eliminate, or otherwise modify the legal
obligation and duty of local agencies to fully comply with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 in a complete,
faithful, and uninterrupted manner.

(Added by Stats. 1991, Ch. 238, Sec. 1.)

54954.5. For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the agenda may describe
closed sessions as provided below. No legislative body or elected official shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or
54956 if the closed session items were described in substantial compliance with this section. Substantial compliance
is satisfied by including the information provided below, irrespective of its format.

(@) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7:

LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION

Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants)

(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.8:
CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or other unique reference, of the real
property under negotiation)

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) (If circumstances necessitate the
absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as
the name of the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed session.)

Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent))

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern price, terms of payment, or both)
(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.9:
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION

(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9)

Name of case: (Specify by reference to claimant’s name, names of parties, case or claim numbers)

or

Case name unspecified: (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service of process or existing settlement
negotiations)

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9: (Specify
number of potential cases)

(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to provide additional information on the
agenda or in an oral statement prior to the closed session pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, of
subdivision (e) of Section 54956.9.)

Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9: (Specify number of potential
cases)

(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.95:
LIABILITY CLAIMS

Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961)

Agency claimed against: (Specify name) Page 74 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 21/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','759','6.1', 'id_73fbe4ee-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54957:
THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES

Consultation with: (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of officer, or name of applicable agency
representative and title)

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT

Title: (Specify description of position to be filled)
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT

Title: (Specify description of position to be filled)
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

Title: (Specify position title of employee being reviewed)
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to consider discipline, dismissal, or
release of a public employee. Discipline includes potential reduction of compensation.)

(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54957.6:
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS

Agency designated representatives: (Specify names of designated representatives attending the closed session) (If
circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified designated representative, an agent or designee may
participate in place of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent or designee is announced at an
open session held prior to the closed session.)

Employee organization: (Specify name of organization representing employee or employees in question)

or

Unrepresented employee: (Specify position title of unrepresented employee who is the subject of the negotiations)
(g) With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8:

CASE REVIEW/PLANNING

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to consider case review or planning.)

(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and
32155 of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code:

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET

Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new service, program, or facility)
Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year)

HEARINGS

Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff privileges, report of medical audit
committee, or report of quality assurance committee)

(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.86:
CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY FEDERAL LAW

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to discuss a charge or complaint pursuant
to Section 54956.86.)

(j) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.96:
CONFERENCE INVOLVING A JOINT POWERS AGENCY (Specify by name)

Discussion will concern: (Specify closed session description used by the joint powers agency)

Name of local agency representative on joint powers agency board: (Specify name)

(Additional information listing the names of agencies or titles of representatives attending the closed session as
consultants or other representatives.)

(k) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.75:
AUDIT BY CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 759, Sec. 6.1. (AB 2690) Effective January 1, 2013.)

Page 75 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 22/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54954.6. (a) (1) Before adopting any new or increased general tax or any new or increased assessment, the
legislative body of a local agency shall conduct at least one public meeting at which local officials shall allow public
testimony regarding the proposed new or increased general tax or new or increased assessment in addition to the
noticed public hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general tax or assessment.

For purposes of this section, the term “new or increased assessment” does not include any of the following:

(A) A fee that does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the services, facilities, or regulatory activity for
which the fee is charged.

(B) A service charge, rate, or charge, unless a special district’s principal act requires the service charge, rate,
or charge to conform to the requirements of this section.

(C) An ongoing annual assessment if it is imposed at the same or lower amount as any previous year.

(D) An assessment that does not exceed an assessment formula or range of assessments previously specified
in the notice given to the public pursuant to subparagraph (G) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) and that was
previously adopted by the agency or approved by the voters in the area where the assessment is imposed.

(E) Standby or immediate availability charges.

(2) The legislative body shall provide at least 45 days’ public notice of the public hearing at which the legislative
body proposes to enact or increase the general tax or assessment. The legislative body shall provide notice for
the public meeting at the same time and in the same document as the notice for the public hearing, but the
meeting shall occur prior to the hearing.

(b) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required by subdivision (a) with respect to
a proposal for a new or increased general tax shall be accomplished by placing a display advertisement of at least
one-eighth page in a newspaper of general circulation for three weeks pursuant to Section 6063 and by a first-class
mailing to those interested parties who have filed a written request with the local agency for mailed notice of public
meetings or hearings on new or increased general taxes. The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take
place no earlier than 10 days after the first publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. The public
hearing shall take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision.
Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the joint notice need not include notice of the public meeting
after the meeting has taken place. The public hearing pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 45
days after the first publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. Any written request for mailed
notices shall be effective for one year from the date on which it is filed unless a renewal request is filed. Renewal
requests for mailed notices shall be filed on or before April 1 of each year. The legislative body may establish a
reasonable annual charge for sending notices based on the estimated cost of providing the service.

(2) The notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

(A) The amount or rate of the tax. If the tax is proposed to be increased from any previous year, the joint
notice shall separately state both the existing tax rate and the proposed tax rate increase.

(B) The activity to be taxed.

(C) The estimated amount of revenue to be raised by the tax annually.

(D) The method and frequency for collecting the tax.

(E) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing described in subdivision (a).

(F) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization that interested persons may
contact to receive additional information about the tax.

(c) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required by subdivision (a) with respect to
a proposal for a new or increased assessment on real property or businesses shall be accomplished through a
mailing, postage prepaid, in the United States mail and shall be deemed given when so deposited. The public
meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 days after the joint mailing pursuant to this

subdivision. The public hearing shall take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this
Page 76 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 23/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.6.','6.2.1.22','2011','382','3.5', 'id_87a42b29-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

subdivision. The envelope or the cover of the mailing shall include the name of the local agency and the return
address of the sender. This mailed notice shall be in at least 10-point type and shall be given to all property owners
or business owners proposed to be subject to the new or increased assessment by a mailing by name to those
persons whose names and addresses appear on the last equalized county assessment roll, the State Board of
Equalization assessment roll, or the local agency’s records pertaining to business ownership, as the case may be.

(2) The joint notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but not be limited to, the
following:

(A) In the case of an assessment proposed to be levied on property, the estimated amount of the assessment
per parcel. In the case of an assessment proposed to be levied on businesses, the proposed method and basis
of levying the assessment in sufficient detail to allow each business owner to calculate the amount of
assessment to be levied against each business. If the assessment is proposed to be increased from any
previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the amount of the existing assessment and the
proposed assessment increase.

(B) A general description of the purpose or improvements that the assessment will fund.
(C) The address to which property owners may mail a protest against the assessment.

(D) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization that interested persons may
contact to receive additional information about the assessment.

(E) A statement that a majority protest will cause the assessment to be abandoned if the assessment act used
to levy the assessment so provides. Notice shall also state the percentage of protests required to trigger an
election, if applicable.

(F) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing described in subdivision (a).

(G) A proposed assessment formula or range as described in subparagraph (D) of paragraph (1) of subdivision
(a) if applicable and that is noticed pursuant to this section.

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment that is proposed exclusively for operation and
maintenance expenses imposed throughout the entire local agency, or exclusively for operation and maintenance
assessments proposed to be levied on 50,000 parcels or more, notice may be provided pursuant to this
subdivision or pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) and shall include the estimated amount of the
assessment of various types, amounts, or uses of property and the information required by subparagraphs (B) to
(G), inclusive, of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c).

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment proposed to be levied pursuant to Part 2
(commencing with Section 22500) of Division 2 of the Streets and Highways Code by a regional park district,
regional park and open-space district, or regional open-space district formed pursuant to Article 3 (commencing
with Section 5500) of Chapter 3 of Division 5 of, or pursuant to Division 26 (commencing with Section 35100) of,
the Public Resources Code, notice may be provided pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b).

(d) The notice requirements imposed by this section shall be construed as additional to, and not to supersede,
existing provisions of law, and shall be applied concurrently with the existing provisions so as to not delay or
prolong the governmental decisionmaking process.

(e) This section shall not apply to any new or increased general tax or any new or increased assessment that
requires an election of either of the following:

(1) The property owners subject to the assessment.
(2) The voters within the local agency imposing the tax or assessment.

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from holding a consolidated meeting or hearing at which the
legislative body discusses multiple tax or assessment proposals.

(g) The local agency may recover the reasonable costs of public meetings, public hearings, and notice required by
this section from the proceeds of the tax or assessment. The costs recovered for these purposes, whether
recovered pursuant to this subdivision or any other provision of law, shall not exceed the reasonable costs of the
public meetings, public hearings, and notice.

(h) Any new or increased assessment that is subject to the notice and hearing provisions of Article XIII C or XIII D
of the California Constitution is not subject to the notice and hearing requirements of this section.

Page 77 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 24/41



1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 382, Sec. 3.5. (SB 194) Effective January 1, 2012.)

54955. The legislative body of a local agency may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, special or adjourned
special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of adjournment. Less than a quorum may so adjourn
from time to time. If all members are absent from any regular or adjourned regular meeting the clerk or secretary
of the legislative body may declare the meeting adjourned to a stated time and place and he shall cause a written
notice of the adjournment to be given in the same manner as provided in Section 54956 for special meetings,
unless such notice is waived as provided for special meetings. A copy of the order or notice of adjournment shall be
conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where the regular, adjourned regular, special or adjourned
special meeting was held within 24 hours after the time of the adjournment. When a regular or adjourned regular
meeting is adjourned as provided in this section, the resulting adjourned regular meeting is a regular meeting for
all purposes. When an order of adjournment of any meeting fails to state the hour at which the adjourned meeting
is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular meetings by ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other
rule.

(Amended by Stats. 1959, Ch. 647.)

54955.1. Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held, by a legislative body of a local agency at any
meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or recontinued to any subsequent meeting of the
legislative body in the same manner and to the same extent set forth in Section 54955 for the adjournment of
meetings; provided, that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours after the time specified in the
order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of continuance of hearing shall be posted immediately
following the meeting at which the order or declaration of continuance was adopted or made.

(Added by Stats. 1965, Ch. 469.)

54956. (a) (1) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the legislative body of a local
agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative body, by delivering written notice to each member of the
legislative body and to each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station requesting notice
in writing and posting a notice on the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one. The notice shall
be delivered personally or by any other means and shall be received at least 24 hours before the time of the
meeting as specified in the notice. The call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and
the business to be transacted or discussed. No other business shall be considered at these meetings by the
legislative body. The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time the
meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the legislative body a written waiver of notice. The waiver may
be given by telephone or electronic mail. The written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is
actually present at the meeting at the time it convenes.

(2) The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a location that is freely
accessible to members of the public.

(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special meeting regarding the salaries, salary
schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits, of the legislative body or of a local agency
executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1. However, this subdivision does not apply to a local
agency calling a special meeting to discuss the local agency’s budget.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 18. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54956.5. (a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following:

(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other activity that severely
impairs public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body.

(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, terrorist act, or threatened
terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and significant that requiring a legislative body to provide one-
hour notice before holding an emergency meeting under this section may endanger the public health, safety, or
both, as determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body.

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving matters upon which prompt action
is necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of public facilities, a legislative body may hold an
emergency meeting without complying with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting
requirement of Section 54956 or both of the notice and posting requirements.

Page 78 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 25/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.','6.2.1.22','1959','647','', 'id_c28e4983-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.1.','6.2.1.22','1965','469','', 'id_c28e4985-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','18', 'id_e415705d-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.5.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','19', 'id_e9266f9f-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that has requested notice of special
meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be notified by the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee
thereof, one hour prior to the emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or near the time that
the presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the legislative body of the emergency meeting.

(A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), the notice required by this paragraph shall be given by telephone
and all telephone numbers provided in the most recent request of a newspaper or station for notification of
special meetings shall be exhausted. In the event that telephone services are not functioning, the notice
requirements of this paragraph shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or designee of the legislative
body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television stations of the fact of the holding of the
emergency meeting, the purpose of the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the
meeting as possible.

(B) For an emergency meeting held pursuant to this section, the presiding officer of the legislative body, or
designee thereof, may send the notifications required by this paragraph by email instead of by telephone, as
provided in subparagraph (A), to all local newspapers of general circulation, and radio or television stations,
that have requested those notifications by email, and all email addresses provided by representatives of those
newspapers or stations shall be exhausted. In the event that internet services and telephone services are not
functioning, the notice requirements of this paragraph shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or
designee of the legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television stations of the fact
of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as
soon after the meeting as possible.

(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in closed session pursuant to
Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-
thirds of the members are present, by a unanimous vote of the members present.

(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be applicable to a meeting called
pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 24-hour notice requirement.

(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who the presiding officer of the
legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and
any actions taken at the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon after the
meeting as possible.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 19. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54956.6. No fees may be charged by the legislative body of a local agency for carrying out any provision of this
chapter, except as specifically authorized by this chapter.

(Added by Stats. 1980, Ch. 1284.)

54956.7. \Whenever a legislative body of a local agency determines that it is necessary to discuss and determine
whether an applicant for a license or license renewal, who has a criminal record, is sufficiently rehabilitated to
obtain the license, the legislative body may hold a closed session with the applicant and the applicant’s attorney, if
any, for the purpose of holding the discussion and making the determination. If the legislative body determines, as
a result of the closed session, that the issuance or renewal of the license should be denied, the applicant shall be
offered the opportunity to withdraw the application. If the applicant withdraws the application, no record shall be
kept of the discussions or decisions made at the closed session and all matters relating to the closed session shall
be confidential. If the applicant does not withdraw the application, the legislative body shall take action at the
public meeting during which the closed session is held or at its next public meeting denying the application for the
license but all matters relating to the closed session are confidential and shall not be disclosed without the consent
of the applicant, except in an action by an applicant who has been denied a license challenging the denial of the
license.

(Added by Stats. 1982, Ch. 298, Sec. 1.)

54956.75. (3) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local agency
that has received a confidential final draft audit report from the Bureau of State Audits from holding closed sessions
to discuss its response to that report.

(b) After the public release of an audit report by the Bureau of State Audits, if a legislative body of a local agency
meets to discuss the audit report, it shall do so in an open session unless exempted from that requirement by some

other provision of law.
Page 79 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=

26/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.6.','6.2.1.22','1980','1284','', 'id_c28fd02b-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1', 'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.75.','6.2.1.22','2004','576','4', 'id_e45db29b-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text
(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 576, Sec. 4. Effective January 1, 2005.)

54956.8. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency may hold a closed
session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property by or for the local agency
to grant authority to its negotiator regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, exchange, or
lease.

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold an open and public session
in which it identifies its negotiators, the real property or real properties which the negotiations may concern, and
the person or persons with whom its negotiators may negotiate.

For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of the local agency.
For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease.

Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session for discussions regarding eminent
domain proceedings pursuant to Section 54956.9.

(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1999.)

54956.81. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency that invests
pension funds may hold a closed session to consider the purchase or sale of particular, specific pension fund
investments. All investment transaction decisions made during the closed session shall be made by rollcall vote
entered into the minutes of the closed session as provided in subdivision (a) of Section 54957.2.

(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 533, Sec. 20. Effective January 1, 2005.)

54956.86. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency which provides
services pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code may hold a closed session to hear a
charge or complaint from a member enrolled in its health plan if the member does not wish to have his or her
name, medical status, or other information that is protected by federal law publicly disclosed. Prior to holding a
closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body shall inform the member, in writing, of his or her right
to have the charge or complaint heard in an open session rather than a closed session.

(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 182, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 1997.)

54956.87. (3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the records of a health plan that is licensed
pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of
Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors, whether paper
records, records maintained in the management information system, or records in any other form, that relate to
provider rate or payment determinations, allocation or distribution methodologies for provider payments, formulas
or calculations for these payments, and contract negotiations with providers of health care for alternative rates are
exempt from disclosure for a period of three years after the contract is fully executed. The transmission of the
records, or the information contained therein in an alternative form, to the board of supervisors shall not constitute
a waiver of exemption from disclosure, and the records and information once transmitted to the board of
supervisors shall be subject to this same exemption.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health plan that is licensed pursuant to the
Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the
Health and Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors may order that a meeting held
solely for the purpose of discussion or taking action on health plan trade secrets, as defined in subdivision (f), shall
be held in closed session. The requirements of making a public report of action taken in closed session, and the
vote or abstention of every member present, may be limited to a brief general description without the information
constituting the trade secret.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health plan may meet in closed session to
consider and take action on matters pertaining to contracts and contract negotiations by the health plan with
providers of health care services concerning all matters related to rates of payment. The governing board may
delete the portion or portions containing trade secrets from any documents that were finally approved in the closed
session held pursuant to subdivision (b) that are provided to persons who have made the timely or standing
request.

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the governing board from meeting in closed session as
otherwise provided by law.

Page 80 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 27/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.8.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','3', 'id_c29156cf-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.81.','6.2.1.22','2004','533','20', 'id_e4f0f1ed-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.86.','6.2.1.22','1996','182','2', 'id_c29156d1-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.87.','6.2.1.22','2015','190','65', 'id_1893f623-9f9d-11e5-bacb-c9b7c1eb246b')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(e) The provisions of this section shall not prevent access to any records by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee in
the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 10500) of Chapter 4 of Part 2 of Division
2 of Title 2. The provisions of this section also shall not prevent access to any records by the Department of
Managed Health Care in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 1340) of Chapter
2.2 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(f) For purposes of this section, “health plan trade secret” means a trade secret, as defined in subdivision (d) of
Section 3426.1 of the Civil Code, that also meets both of the following criteria:

(1) The secrecy of the information is necessary for the health plan to initiate a new service, program, marketing
strategy, business plan, or technology, or to add a benefit or product.

(2) Premature disclosure of the trade secret would create a substantial probability of depriving the health plan of
a substantial economic benefit or opportunity.

(Amended by Stats. 2015, Ch. 190, Sec. 65. (AB 1517) Effective January 1, 2016.)

54956.9. (a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local agency, based on
advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel
regarding pending litigation when discussion in open session concerning those matters would prejudice the position
of the local agency in the litigation.

(b) For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other than those provided in this
section are hereby abrogated. This section is the exclusive expression of the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of
conducting closed-session meetings pursuant to this chapter.

(c) For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, including eminent domain, before
a court, administrative body exercising its adjudicatory authority, hearing officer, or arbitrator.

(d) For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following circumstances
exist:

(1) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally.

(2) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the local agency on the advice of its
legal counsel, based on existing facts and circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the
local agency.

(3) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local agency is meeting only to decide
whether a closed session is authorized pursuant to paragraph (2).

(4) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local agency has decided to initiate or is
deciding whether to initiate litigation.

(e) For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (d), “existing facts and circumstances” shall consist only
of one of the following:

(1) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local agency but which the local agency
believes are not yet known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts and circumstances need not be
disclosed.

(2) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, disaster, incident, or transactional
occurrence that might result in litigation against the agency and that are known to a potential plaintiff or
plaintiffs, which facts or circumstances shall be publicly stated on the agenda or announced.

(3) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of
Title 1 of the Government Code) or some other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening
litigation, which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.

(4) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening litigation on a specific matter within
the responsibility of the legislative body.

(5) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and public meeting on a specific matter
within the responsibility of the legislative body so long as the official or employee of the local agency receiving
knowledge of the threat makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to the npggting opvigh

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 28/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.9.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','206', 'id_d280eebb-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

record shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5. The records so created need not
identify the alleged victim of unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making the threat on their behalf, or
identify a public employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or tortious conduct upon which a threat
of litigation is based, unless the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed.

(f) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written communications that are privileged and not subject to
disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title
1).

(g) Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of the local agency shall state on
the agenda or publicly announce the paragraph of subdivision (d) that authorizes the closed session. If the session
is closed pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), the body shall state the title of or otherwise specifically
identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to
effectuate service of process upon one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to
conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage.

(h) A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant exposure to litigation” if an officer or
employee of the local agency is a party or has significant exposure to litigation concerning prior or prospective
activities or alleged activities during the course and scope of that office or employment, including litigation in which
it is an issue whether an activity is outside the course and scope of the office or employment.

(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 206. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, pursuant to Sec.
463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.)

54956.95. (3) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a joint powers agency formed pursuant to Article
1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, for purposes of insurance pooling, or a local
agency member of the joint powers agency, from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort
liability losses, public liability losses, or workers’ compensation liability incurred by the joint powers agency or a
local agency member of the joint powers agency.

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the Local Agency Self-Insurance Authority formed
pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 6599.01) of Division 7 of Title 1, or a local agency member of
the authority, from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability losses, public liability
losses, or workers’ compensation liability incurred by the authority or a local agency member of the authority.

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect Section 54956.9 with respect to any other local agency.
(Added by Stats. 1989, Ch. 882, Sec. 3.)

54956.96. (3) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a joint powers agency
formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a
policy or a bylaw or including in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the following:

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in a closed session related to the
information presented to the joint powers agency in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of
the legislative body of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session that has
direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the following individuals:

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has
direct financial or liability implications for that local agency member.

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a closed session of that local agency
member.

(2) Any designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers agency who is also a member of
the legislative body of a local agency member and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint
powers agency in lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed sessions of the
joint powers agency.

(b) (1) In addition to the authority described in subdivision (a), the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or
its successor entity, may adopt a policy or a bylaw or include in its joint powers agreement a provision that
authorizes both of the following:

(A) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California,

or its successor entity, who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency member and who is
Page 82 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 29/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.95.','6.2.1.22','1989','882','3', 'id_c292dd77-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2024','24','1', 'id_808173ac-b8c5-11ef-87f5-6bbf55a2195e')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

attending a properly noticed meeting of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity,
in lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member, to attend closed sessions of the Clean Power
Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity.

(B) All information that is received by a designated alternate member of the legislative body of the Clean
Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, who is not a member of the legislative body of a
local agency member, and that is presented to the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor
entity, in closed session, shall be confidential. However, the designated alternate member may disclose
information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or liability implications for the local agency
member for which the designated alternate member attended the closed session, to the following individuals:

(i) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has
direct financial or liability implications for that local agency member.

(ii) Members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a closed session of that local agency
member.

(2) If the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, adopts a policy or bylaw or includes
in its joint powers agreement a provision authorized pursuant to paragraph (1), the Clean Power Alliance of
Southern California, or its successor entity, shall establish policies to prevent conflicts of interest and to address
breaches of confidentiality that apply to a designated alternate member who is not a member of the legislative
body of a local agency member who attends a closed session of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California,
or its successor entity.

(c) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes provisions in its joint
powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a) or (b), then the legislative body of the local agency member, upon
the advice of its legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action
concerning information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency pursuant to paragraph (1) of
subdivision (a) or paragraph (1) of subdivision (b).

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 1) by Stats. 2024, Ch. 24, Sec. 1. (AB 1852) Effective January 1, 2025.

Repealed as of January 1, 2030, by its own provisions. See later operative version, as amended by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2024, Ch.
24.)

54956.96. (3) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a joint powers agency
formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a
policy or a bylaw or including in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the following:

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in a closed session related to the
information presented to the joint powers agency in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of
the legislative body of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session that has
direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the following individuals:

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has
direct financial or liability implications for that local agency member.

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a closed session of that local agency
member.

(2) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers agency who is also a member of
the legislative body of a local agency member and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint
powers agency in lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed sessions of the
joint powers agency.

(b) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes provisions in its joint
powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a), then the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the
advice of its legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action concerning
information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a).

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2030.

(Amended (as added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 2) by Stats. 2024, Ch. 24, Sec. 2. (AB 1852) Effective January 1, 2025.
Section operative January 1, 2030, by its own provisions.) Page 83 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 30/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2024','24','2', 'id_861f228e-b8c5-11ef-87f5-6bbf55a2195e')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54956.97. Notwithstanding any provision of law, the governing board, or a committee of the governing board, of a
public bank, as defined in Section 57600 of the Government Code, may meet in closed session to consider and take
action on matters pertaining to all of the following:

(a) A loan or investment decision.

(b) A decision of the internal audit committee, the compliance committee, or the governance committee.
(c) A meeting with a state or federal regulator.

(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 14. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.)

54956.98. (3) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

r r, r, or owner y” or r r, r, or owner Y
1) “Shareholder, member, or owner local agency” or “shareholder, member, or owner” means a local agency that
is a shareholder of a public bank.

(2) “Public bank” has the same meaning as defined in Section 57600.

(b) The governing board of a public bank may adopt a policy or a bylaw or include in its governing documents
provisions that authorize any of the following:

(1) All information received by a shareholder, member, or owner of the public bank in a closed session related to
the information presented to the governing board of a public bank in closed session shall be confidential.
However, a member of the governing board of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency may disclose
information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to
the following individuals:

(A) Legal counsel of that shareholder, member, or owner local agency for purposes of obtaining advice on
whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for that shareholder local agency.

(B) Other members of the governing board of the local agency present in a closed session of that shareholder,
member, or owner local agency.

(2) A designated alternate member of the governing board of the public bank who is also a member of the
governing board of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency and who is attending a properly noticed
meeting of the public bank governing board in lieu of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency’s regularly
appointed member may attend a closed session of the public bank governing board.

(c) If the governing board of a public bank adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes provisions in its governing
documents pursuant to subdivision (b), then the governing board of the shareholder, member, or owner local
agency, upon the advice of its legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take
action concerning information obtained in a closed session of the public bank governing board pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b).

(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 15. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.)

54957. (a) (1) This chapter does not prevent the legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions
with the Governor, Attorney General, district attorney, agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or other law
enforcement or security personnel, or a security consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a
threat to the security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public services, including water,
drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas service, and electric service, a threat to the public’s right of
access to public services or public facilities, or a threat to critical infrastructure controls or critical infrastructure
information relating to cybersecurity.

(2) For purposes of this subdivision, the following definitions apply:

(A) “Critical infrastructure controls” means networks and systems controlling assets so vital to the local agency
that the incapacity or destruction of those networks, systems, or assets would have a debilitating impact on
public health, safety, economic security, or any combination thereof.

(B) “Critical infrastructure information” means information not customarily in the public domain pertaining to
any of the following:

Page 84 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 31/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.97.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','14', 'id_78e03938-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.98.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','15', 'id_8690b5aa-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.','6.2.1.22','2024','243','1', 'id_8b3048e0-b8c5-11ef-87f5-6bbf55a2195e')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(i) Actual, potential, or threatened interference with, or an attack on, compromise of, or incapacitation of
critical infrastructure controls by either physical or computer-based attack or other similar conduct,
including, but not limited to, the misuse of, or unauthorized access to, all types of communications and data
transmission systems, that violates federal, state, or local law or harms public health, safety, or economic
security, or any combination thereof.

(ii) The ability of critical infrastructure controls to resist any interference, compromise, or incapacitation,
including, but not limited to, any planned or past assessment or estimate of the vulnerability of critical
infrastructure.

(iii) Any planned or past operational problem or solution regarding critical infrastructure controls, including,
but not limited to, repair, recovery, reconstruction, insurance, or continuity, to the extent it is related to
interference, compromise, or incapacitation of critical infrastructure controls.

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter does not prevent the legislative body of a local agency from holding
closed sessions during a regular or special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of
performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges brought against the
employee by another person or employee unless the employee requests a public session.

(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges brought against an employee by
another person or employee, the employee shall be given written notice of their right to have the complaints or
charges heard in an open session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be delivered to the employee
personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time for holding the session. If notice is not given, any
disciplinary or other action taken by the legislative body against the employee based on the specific complaints or
charges in the closed session shall be null and void.

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, during the examination of a witness,
any or all other witnesses in the matter being investigated by the legislative body.

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an officer or an independent contractor
who functions as an officer or an employee but shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body
or other independent contractors. This subdivision shall not limit local officials” ability to hold closed session
meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and
37624.3 of the Government Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to this subdivision shall not include discussion or
action on proposed compensation except for a reduction of compensation that results from the imposition of
discipline.

(Amended by Stats. 2024, Ch. 243, Sec. 1. (AB 2715) Effective January 1, 2025.)

54957.1. (a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in closed session and the
vote or abstention on that action of every member present, as follows:

(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to Section 54956.8 shall be reported
after the agreement is final, as follows:

(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report that approval and the substance of
the agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held.

(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the local agency shall disclose the fact of
that approval and the substance of the agreement upon inquiry by any person, as soon as the other party or
its agent has informed the local agency of its approval.

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking appellate review or relief, or to
enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation as the result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be
reported in open session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. The report shall identify, if
known, the adverse party or parties and the substance of the litigation. In the case of approval given to initiate or
intervene in an action, the announcement need not identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, but
shall specify that the direction to initiate or intervene in an action has been given and that the action, the
defendants, and the other particulars shall, once formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon inquiry,
unless to do so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process on one or more unserved
parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage.

Page 85 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=

32/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.1.','6.2.1.22','2006','538','311', 'id_d69c26d2-8f68-11db-9801-f57d41d6b535')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as defined in Section 54956.9, at any
stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding shall be reported after the settlement is final, as
follows:

(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the opposing party, the body shall report its
acceptance and identify the substance of the agreement in open session at the public meeting during which
the closed session is held.

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with the court, then as soon as the
settlement becomes final, and upon inquiry by any person, the local agency shall disclose the fact of that
approval, and identify the substance of the agreement.

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54956.95 shall be reported
as soon as reached in a manner that identifies the name of the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed
against, the substance of the claim, and any monetary amount approved for payment and agreed upon by the

claimant.

(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or otherwise affect the employment status
of a public employee in closed session pursuant to Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting during
which the closed session is held. Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the title of the position. The
general requirement of this paragraph notwithstanding, the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal of an
employment contract shall be deferred until the first public meeting following the exhaustion of administrative
remedies, if any.

(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented employees pursuant to Section
54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is final and has been accepted or ratified by the other party. The
report shall identify the item approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation.

(7) Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to Section 54956.81 shall be disclosed at the
first open meeting of the legislative body held after the earlier of the close of the investment transaction or the
transfer of pension fund assets for the investment transaction.

(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made orally or in writing. The legislative
body shall provide to any person who has submitted a written request to the legislative body within 24 hours of the
posting of the agenda, or to any person who has made a standing request for all documentation as part of a
request for notice of meetings pursuant to Section 54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at the time the
closed session ends, copies of any contracts, settlement agreements, or other documents that were finally
approved or adopted in the closed session. If the action taken results in one or more substantive amendments to
the related documents requiring retyping, the documents need not be released until the retyping is completed
during normal business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or her designee
orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the benefit of the document requester or any other person
present and requesting the information.

(c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be available to any person on the next business day
following the meeting in which the action referred to is taken or, in the case of substantial amendments, when any
necessary retyping is complete.

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body approve actions not otherwise
subject to legislative body approval.

(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be commenced by or on behalf of
any employee or former employee with respect to whom a disclosure is made by a legislative body in an effort to
comply with this section.

(f) This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within the scope of, paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of
Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution.

(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 538, Sec. 311. Effective January 1, 2007.)

54957.2. (a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by ordinance or resolution, designate a clerk or other
officer or employee of the local agency who shall then attend each closed session of the legislative body and keep
and enter in a minute book a record of topics discussed and decisions made at the meeting. The minute book made
pursuant to this section is not a public record subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), and shall be kept confidential. The minute book shall

be available only to members of the legislative body or, if a violation of this chapter is alleged to have occurred at a
Page 86 of 100

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 33/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.2.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','207', 'id_d7638afd-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

closed session, to a court of general jurisdiction wherein the local agency lies. The minute book may, but need not,
consist of a recording of the closed session.

(b) An elected legislative body of a local agency may require that each legislative body all or a majority of whose
members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected legislative body keep a minute book as prescribed
under subdivision (a).

(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 207. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, pursuant to Sec.
463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.)

54957.5. (a) Agendas of public meetings are disclosable public records under the California Public Records Act
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), and shall be made available upon request without
delay and in compliance with Section 54954.2 or Section 54956, as applicable. However, this section shall not apply
to a writing, or portion thereof, that is exempt from public disclosure.

(b) (1) If a writing is a public record related to an agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the
legislative body of a local agency and is distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of a legislative body
of a local agency by a person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or consideration at an open meeting
of the body less than 72 hours before that meeting, the writing shall be made available for public inspection
pursuant to paragraph (2) at the time the writing is distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the
body.

(2) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a local agency shall comply with both of the following
requirements:

(i) A local agency shall make any writing described in paragraph (1) available for public inspection at a
public office or location that the agency shall designate for this purpose.

(i) A local agency shall list the address of the office or location designated pursuant to clause (i) on the
agendas for all meetings of the legislative body of that agency.

(B) A local agency shall not be required to comply with the requirements of subparagraph (A) if all of the
following requirements are met:

(i) An initial staff report or similar document containing an executive summary and the staff
recommendation, if any, relating to that agenda item is made available for public inspection at the office or
location designated pursuant to clause (i) of subparagraph (A) at least 72 hours before the meeting.

(ii) The local agency immediately posts any writing described in paragraph (1) on the local agency’s internet
website in a position and manner that makes it clear that the writing relates to an agenda item for an
upcoming meeting.

(iii) The local agency lists the web address of the local agency’s internet website on the agendas for all
meetings of the legislative body of that agency.

(iv) (I) Subject to subclause (II), the local agency makes physical copies available for public inspection,
beginning the next regular business hours for the local agency, at the office or location designated pursuant
to clause (i) of subparagraph (A).

(II) This clause is satisfied only if the next regular business hours of the local agency commence at least
24 hours before that meeting.

(c) Writings that are public records described in subdivision (b) and distributed during a public meeting shall be
made available for public inspection at the meeting if prepared by the local agency or a member of its legislative
body, or after the meeting if prepared by some other person. These writings shall be made available in appropriate
alternative formats upon request by a person with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation
thereof.

(d) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local agency from charging a fee or
deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to Section 7922.530, except that a surcharge shall not be imposed on
persons with disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec.
12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.

Page 87 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 34/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.5.','6.2.1.22','2022','971','1', 'id_011bc71c-7cac-11ed-acb9-a59a0646e1a6')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(e) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the public’s right to inspect or obtain a copy of any record
required to be disclosed under the requirements of the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with
Section 7920.000) of Title 1), including, but not limited to, the ability of the public to inspect public records
pursuant to Section 7922.525 and obtain copies of public records pursuant to either subdivision (b) of Section
7922.530 or Section 7922.535. This chapter shall not be construed to require a legislative body of a local agency to
place any paid advertisement or any other paid notice in any publication.

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 208) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 971, Sec. 1. (AB 2647) Effective January 1,
2023.)

54957.6. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may hold closed
sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or
compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of its represented and unrepresented employees, and, for
represented employees, any other matter within the statutorily provided scope of representation, subject to all of
the following conditions:

(1) Prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold an open and public session in
which it identifies its designated representatives.

(2) The closed session shall be for the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s
designated representatives.

(3) The closed session may take place prior to and during consultations and discussions with representatives of
employee organizations and unrepresented employees.

(4) Any closed session with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the salaries, salary schedules,
or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may include discussion of an agency’s available funds and
funding priorities, but only insofar as these discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency’s
designated representative.

(5) The closed session shall not include final action on the proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented
employees.

(6) For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency may also meet with a state
conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings.

(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or an independent contractor who
functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body, or
other independent contractors.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 20. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54957.7. (a) Prior to holding any closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall disclose, in an open
meeting, the item or items to be discussed in the closed session. The disclosure may take the form of a reference
to the item or items as they are listed by number or letter on the agenda. In the closed session, the legislative
body may consider only those matters covered in its statement. Nothing in this section shall require or authorize a
disclosure of information prohibited by state or federal law.

(b) After any closed session, the legislative body shall reconvene into open session prior to adjournment and shall
make any disclosures required by Section 54957.1 of action taken in the closed session.

(c) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this section may be made at the location
announced in the agenda for the closed session, as long as the public is allowed to be present at that location for
the purpose of hearing the announcements.

(Amended by Stats. 1993, Ch. 1137, Sec. 15. Effective January 1, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 1137.)

54957.8. (a) For purposes of this section, “multijurisdictional law enforcement agency” means a joint powers entity
formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 that provides law
enforcement services for the parties to the joint powers agreement for the purpose of investigating criminal activity
involving drugs; gangs; sex crimes; firearms trafficking or felony possession of a firearm; high technology,
computer, or identity theft; human trafficking; or vehicle theft.

Page 88 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 35/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.6.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','20', 'id_ee6387f1-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.7.','6.2.1.22','1993','1137','15', 'id_c2946423-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.8.','6.2.1.22','2006','427','1', 'id_dc985cd2-4eed-11db-bdca-f867815b34c3')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(b) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a multijurisdictional law
enforcement agency, or an advisory body of a multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, from holding closed
sessions to discuss the case records of any ongoing criminal investigation of the multijurisdictional law enforcement
agency or of any party to the joint powers agreement, to hear testimony from persons involved in the investigation,
and to discuss courses of action in particular cases.

(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 427, Sec. 1. Effective September 22, 2006.)

54957.9. In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of persons so as to render the
orderly conduct of the meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored by the removal of individuals who are
willfully interrupting the meeting, the members of the legislative body conducting the meeting may order the
meeting room cleared and continue in session. Only matters appearing on the agenda may be considered in such a
session. Representatives of the press or other news media, except those participating in the disturbance, shall be
allowed to attend any session held pursuant to this section. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the legislative body
from establishing a procedure for readmitting an individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the
orderly conduct of the meeting.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 21. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54957.95. (3) (1) In addition to authority exercised pursuant to Sections 54954.3 and 54957.9, the presiding
member of the legislative body conducting a meeting or their designee may remove, or cause the removal of, an
individual for disrupting the meeting, including any teleconferenced meeting.

(2) Prior to removing an individual, the presiding member or their designee shall warn the individual that their
behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their failure to cease their behavior may result in their removal. The
presiding member or their designee may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease their disruptive
behavior. This paragraph does not apply to any behavior described in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of
subdivision (b).

(b) As used in this section:

(1) “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative body that actually disrupts,
disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not limited to, one
of the following:

(A) A failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a legislative body pursuant to
Section 54954.3 or any other law.

(B) Engaging in behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force.

(2) “True threat of force” means a threat that has sufficient indicia of intent and seriousness, that a reasonable
observer would perceive it to be an actual threat to use force by the person making the threat.

(Amended by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 22. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54957.96. (3) The existing authority of a legislative body or its presiding officer to remove or limit participation by
persons who engage in behavior that actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct
of the meeting, including existing limitations upon that authority, shall apply to members of the public participating
in @ meeting via a two-way telephonic service or a two-way audiovisual platform.

(b) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:
(1) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides participants with the ability to

participate in a meeting via both an interactive video conference and a two-way telephonic service. A two-way
audiovisual platform may be structured to disable the use of video for the public participants.

(2) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not require internet access and allows
participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally participate.

(Added by Stats. 2025, Ch. 327, Sec. 23. (SB 707) Effective January 1, 2026.)

54957.10. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may hold closed sessions

to discuss a local agency employee’s application for early withdrawal of funds in a deferred compensgtionsglap1\6v0hen
age 89 o

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 36/41



javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.9.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','21', 'id_f3841793-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.95.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','22', 'id_f8914645-cfac-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.96.','6.2.1.22','2025','327','23', 'id_11ce9fa7-cfa6-11f0-bfde-adfc216d767c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.10.','6.2.1.22','2001','45','1', 'id_c295eac9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

the application is based on financial hardship arising from an unforeseeable emergency due to illness, accident,
casualty, or other extraordinary event, as specified in the deferred compensation plan.

(Added by Stats. 2001, Ch. 45, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2002.)

54958. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the legislative body of every local agency notwithstanding the
conflicting provisions of any other state law.

(Added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588.)

54959. Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of that legislative body where action is taken in
violation of any provision of this chapter, and where the member intends to deprive the public of information to
which the member knows or has reason to know the public is entitled under this chapter, is guilty of a
misdemeanor.

(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 18. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.)

54960. (3) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by mandamus, injunction, or
declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or preventing violations or threatened violations of this chapter by
members of the legislative body of a local agency or to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing
actions or threatened future actions of the legislative body, or to determine the applicability of this chapter to past
actions of the legislative body, subject to Section 54960.2, or to determine whether any rule or action by the
legislative body to penalize or otherwise discourage the expression of one or more of its members is valid or invalid
under the laws of this state or of the United States, or to compel the legislative body to audio record its closed
sessions as hereinafter provided.

(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.9,
54956.95, 54957, or 54957.6, order the legislative body to audio record its closed sessions and preserve the audio
recordings for the period and under the terms of security and confidentiality the court deems appropriate.

(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the closed session recorded and the
title of the clerk or other officer who shall be custodian of the recording.

(2) The audio recordings shall be subject to the following discovery procedures:

(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the audio recording is sought by either the district attorney
or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant to Section 54959, 54960, or 54960.1 alleging that a violation of this
chapter has occurred in a closed session that has been recorded pursuant to this section, the party seeking
discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of motion with the appropriate court with notice to the
governmental agency that has custody and control of the audio recording. The notice shall be given pursuant
to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by Section 1010 of the Code of Civil Procedure,
all of the following:

(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or disclosure is sought, the party seeking discovery or
disclosure, the date and time of the meeting recorded, and the governmental agency that has custody and
control of the recording.

(i) An affidavit that contains specific facts indicating that a violation of the act occurred in the closed
session.

(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause to believe that a violation has
occurred, the court may review, in camera, the recording of that portion of the closed session alleged to have
violated the act.

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a portion of the recording would be
likely to materially assist in the resolution of the litigation alleging violation of this chapter, the court shall, in its

discretion, make a certified transcript of the portion of the recording a public exhibit in the proceeding.

(5) This section shall not permit discovery of communications that are protected by the attorney-client privilege.

(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 1. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.)

Page 90 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 37/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54958.','6.2.1.22','1953','1588','', 'id_c295eacb-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54959.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','18', 'id_c295eacd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','1', 'id_78cd4322-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54960.1. (a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by mandamus or injunction for
the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in
violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 is null and void under this section.
Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body from curing or correcting an action
challenged pursuant to this section.

(b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision (a), the district attorney or interested person shall
make a demand of the legislative body to cure or correct the action alleged to have been taken in violation of
Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5. The demand shall be in writing and clearly
describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged violation.

(c) (1) The written demand shall be made within 90 days from the date the action was taken unless the action was
taken in an open session but in violation of Section 54954.2, in which case the written demand shall be made
within 30 days from the date the action was taken.

(2) Within 30 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body shall cure or correct the challenged action and
inform the demanding party in writing of its actions to cure or correct or inform the demanding party in writing of
its decision not to cure or correct the challenged action.

(3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day period, the inaction shall be deemed a decision not to
cure or correct the challenged action, and the 15-day period to commence the action described in subdivision (a)
shall commence to run the day after the 30-day period to cure or correct expires.

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the legislative body’s decision to cure or correct, or not to
cure or correct, or within 15 days of the expiration of the 30-day period to cure or correct, whichever is earlier,
the demanding party shall be required to commence the action pursuant to subdivision (a) or thereafter be
barred from commencing the action.

(d) An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6,
54956, or 54956.5 shall not be determined to be null and void if any of the following conditions exist:

(1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, and
54956.5.

(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, bonds, or other evidences of
indebtedness or any contract, instrument, or agreement thereto.

(3) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation, including a contract let by competitive bid other than
compensation for services in the form of salary or fees for professional services, upon which a party has, in good
faith and without notice of a challenge to the validity of the action, detrimentally relied.

(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax.

(5) Any person, city, city and county, county, district, or any agency or subdivision of the state alleging
noncompliance with subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, Section 54956, or Section 54956.5, because of any
defect, error, irregularity, or omission in the notice given pursuant to those provisions, had actual notice of the
item of business at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was taken, if the meeting was noticed
pursuant to Section 54954.2, or 24 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was taken if the meeting was
noticed pursuant to Section 54956, or prior to the meeting at which the action was taken if the meeting is held
pursuant to Section 54956.5.

(e) During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to subdivision (a) if the court determines, pursuant
to a showing by the legislative body that an action alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953,
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 has been cured or corrected by a subsequent action of the
legislative body, the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall be dismissed with prejudice.

(f) The fact that a legislative body takes a subsequent action to cure or correct an action taken pursuant to this
section shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of a violation of this chapter.

(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 454, Sec. 23. Effective January 1, 2003.)

Page 91 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 38/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.1.','6.2.1.22','2002','454','23', 'id_c2977171-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54960.2. (3) The district attorney or any interested person may file an action to determine the applicability of this
chapter to past actions of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 only if all of the
following conditions are met:

(1) The district attorney or interested person alleging a violation of this chapter first submits a cease and desist
letter by postal mail or facsimile transmission to the clerk or secretary of the legislative body being accused of the
violation, as designated in the statement pertaining to that public agency on file pursuant to Section 53051, or if
the agency does not have a statement on file designating a clerk or a secretary, to the chief executive officer of
that agency, clearly describing the past action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged violation.

(2) The cease and desist letter required under paragraph (1) is submitted to the legislative body within nine
months of the alleged violation.

(3) The time during which the legislative body may respond to the cease and desist letter pursuant to subdivision
(b) has expired and the legislative body has not provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision

(c).

(4) Within 60 days of receipt of the legislative body’s response to the cease and desist letter, other than an
unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c), or within 60 days of the expiration of the time during
which the legislative body may respond to the cease and desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b), whichever is
earlier, the party submitting the cease and desist letter shall commence the action pursuant to subdivision (a) of
Section 54960 or thereafter be barred from commencing the action.

(b) The legislative body may respond to a cease and desist letter submitted pursuant to subdivision (a) within 30
days of receiving the letter. This subdivision shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body from providing an
unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c) at any time after the 30-day period has expired, except that
in that event the court shall award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an action brought
pursuant to this section, in accordance with Section 54960.5.

(c) (1) If the legislative body elects to respond to the cease and desist letter with an unconditional commitment to
cease, desist from, and not repeat the past action that is alleged to violate this chapter, that response shall be in
substantially the following form:

To

The [name of legislative body] has received your cease and desist letter dated [date] alleging that the following
described past action of the legislative body violates the Ralph M. Brown Act:

[Describe alleged past action, as set forth in the cease and desist letter submitted pursuant to subdivision (a)]

In order to avoid unnecessary litigation and without admitting any violation of the Ralph M. Brown Act, the [name
of legislative body] hereby unconditionally commits that it will cease, desist from, and not repeat the challenged
past action as described above.

The [name of legislative body] may rescind this commitment only by a majority vote of its membership taken in
open session at a regular meeting and noticed on its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment.” You
will be provided with written notice, sent by any means or media you provide in response to this message, to
whatever address or addresses you specify, of any intention to consider rescinding this commitment at least 30
days before any such regular meeting. In the event that this commitment is rescinded, you will have the right to
commence legal action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 of the Government Code. That notice will be
delivered to you by the same means as this commitment, or may be mailed to an address that you have designated
in writing.

Very truly yours,

[Chairperson or acting chairperson of the legislative body]

Page 92 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 39/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.2.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','2', 'id_6e1e1258-4e0a-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

(2) An unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision shall be approved by the legislative body in open
session at a regular or special meeting as a separate item of business, and not on its consent agenda.

(3) An action shall not be commenced to determine the applicability of this chapter to any past action of the
legislative body for which the legislative body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this
subdivision. During any action seeking a judicial determination regarding the applicability of this chapter to any
past action of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision (a), if the court determines that the legislative body
has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision, the action shall be dismissed with
prejudice. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to modify or limit the existing ability of the district
attorney or any interested person to commence an action to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing
actions or threatened future actions of the legislative body.

(4) Except as provided in subdivision (d), the fact that a legislative body provides an unconditional commitment
shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of a violation of this chapter.

(d) If the legislative body provides an unconditional commitment as set forth in subdivision (c), the legislative body
shall not thereafter take or engage in the challenged action described in the cease and desist letter, except as
provided in subdivision (e). Violation of this subdivision shall constitute an independent violation of this chapter,
without regard to whether the challenged action would otherwise violate this chapter. An action alleging past
violation or threatened future violation of this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section
54960, without regard to the procedural requirements of this section.

(e) The legislative body may resolve to rescind an unconditional commitment made pursuant to subdivision (c) by a
majority vote of its membership taken in open session at a regular meeting as a separate item of business not on
its consent agenda, and noticed on its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment,” provided that not
less than 30 days prior to such regular meeting, the legislative body provides written notice of its intent to consider
the rescission to each person to whom the unconditional commitment was made, and to the district attorney. Upon
rescission, the district attorney or any interested person may commence an action pursuant to subdivision (a) of
Section 54960. An action under this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960,
without regard to the procedural requirements of this section.

(Added by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 2. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.)

54960.5. A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an action brought pursuant
to Section 54960, 54960.1, or 54960.2 where it is found that a legislative body of the local agency has violated this
chapter. Additionally, when an action brought pursuant to Section 54960.2 is dismissed with prejudice because a
legislative body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (c) of that
section at any time after the 30-day period for making such a commitment has expired, the court shall award court
costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff if the filing of that action caused the legislative body to issue the
unconditional commitment. The costs and fees shall be paid by the local agency and shall not become a personal
liability of any public officer or employee of the local agency.

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to a defendant in any action brought pursuant to
Section 54960 or 54960.1 where the defendant has prevailed in a final determination of such action and the court
finds that the action was clearly frivolous and totally lacking in merit.

(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 3. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.)

54961. (a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any meeting in any facility that prohibits the
admittance of any person, or persons, on the basis of ancestry or any characteristic listed or defined in Section
11135, or which is inaccessible to disabled persons, or where members of the public may not be present without
making a payment or purchase. This section shall apply to every local agency as defined in Section 54951.

(b) No notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this chapter need identify any victim or alleged
victim of tortious sexual conduct or child abuse unless the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed.
(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 568, Sec. 35. Effective January 1, 2008.)

54962. Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by Sections 1461, 1462, 32106, and 32155 of the Health
and Safety Code, or by Sections 37606, 37606.1, and 37624.3 of the Government Code as they apply to hospitals,
or by any provision of the Education Code pertaining to school districts and community college districts, no closed
session may be held by any legislative body of any local agency.

(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 157, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2007.)

Page 93 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 40/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','3', 'id_7aea7dd4-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54961.','6.2.1.22','2007','568','35', 'id_2e652584-a4c7-11dc-bd1e-8ef80c9262aa')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54962.','6.2.1.22','2006','157','2', 'id_d6eb3134-8f68-11db-9801-f57d41d6b535')

1/8/26, 3:19 PM Codes Display Text

54963. (a3) A person may not disclose confidential information that has been acquired by being present in a closed
session authorized by Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.86, 54956.87, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.6, 54957.8, or
54957.10 to a person not entitled to receive it, unless the legislative body authorizes disclosure of that confidential
information.

(b) For purposes of this section, “confidential information” means a communication made in a closed session that is
specifically related to the basis for the legislative body of a local agency to meet lawfully in closed session under
this chapter.

(c) Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such remedies as are currently available by law,
including, but not limited to:

(1) Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information prohibited by this section.

(2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed confidential information in violation of this
section.

(3) Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed confidential information in violation of
this section to the grandjury.

(d) Disciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) shall require that the employee in question has
either received training as to the requirements of this section or otherwise has been given notice of the
requirements of this section.

(e) A local agency may not take any action authorized by subdivision (c) against a person, nor shall it be deemed a
violation of this section, for doing any of the following:

(1) Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury concerning a perceived violation
of law, including disclosing facts to a district attorney or grand jury that are necessary to establish the illegality of
an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency or the potential illegality of an action that has been the
subject of deliberation at a closed session if that action were to be taken by a legislative body of a local agency.

(2) Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by a legislative body of a local
agency in closed session, including disclosure of the nature and extent of the illegal or potentially illegal action.

(3) Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session under this chapter that is not confidential
information.

(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit disclosures under the whistleblower statutes contained in
Section 1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 (commencing with Section 53296) of Chapter 2 of this code.

(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1119, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2003.)

Page 94 of 100
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article= 41/41


javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1', 'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')

%&%ﬁt\:‘s "2,
December 2025 *‘@(805) 21 14@

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

District Summary/Update

Lake Level: Casitas Damis at 99.3% 1/15/2025

Wells: Wells 2, 4A and 7 Back On-Line 1/14/2026

Well #4A: Equipment is under inspection, install date TBD.

Well #1: Pulled and inspected by Cascade Well and Pump, repair cost pending.

Cal ARP: Under contract with Resource Compliance to complete MOWD’s CalARP, in progress
AMI Meters: Meter replacement program, complete for 25/26’

Hazard Assessment, CCC Program: Started Hazard Assessments within the District.
Treatment Plant: EPD Replacement Package Plant Proposal, Pending

Rainfall Totals (28-day/Season): Casitas Dam 14.04/24.46”
Matilija Dam 20.78/35.29

Matilija Canyon 25.23/39.73”

1/115/25 M.O. Fire Station ~ 12.65/22.49"

Stewart Canyon 13.05/22.19
Nordhoff Ridge 25.68/43.62

Date Location Contractor
Turn on Casitas Connection Stream 12/28/25 - Fairview Rd
Flows 1/14/26
AMS Leak Age 117126 158 S. Staff
Pueblo
1

Page 95 of 100



December 2025

Current Well Levels and Specific Capacity

WELL #1 JAN FEB MAR | APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV Dec
25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 25’
STATIC(f) | 291" | 273 | 259 | 218 29 276 | 308 | 316 | 318 | 293 | 305 | 248
RUNNING (f) | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF
DRAWDOWN (i) | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF

)

Gallons Per Minute (GPM OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF
Specific Capacity (gal/ft DD OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF

WELL #2 JAN FEB MAR | APR | MAY | JUN JUL AUG SEP OoCT NOV DEC
STATIC (ft) | 28.6' 28 26.2 21.8 28.9 28.5 20.7 30.9 30.9 29.9 30.9 239
RUNNING (ft) OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 40.2 OFF OFF
DRAW DOWN (ft) OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 10.3 OFF OFF

)

Gallons Per Minute (GPM OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 130 OFF OFF
Specific Capacity (gal/ft DD OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 12.62 OFF OFF

WELL #4A JAN FEB MAR | APR | MAY | JUN JUL AUG SEP OoCT Nov DEC
STATIC (ft) | 35.9° 356.3 34.7 29.9 334 N/A 427 52.7’ 53.3 46.9 33.76 32.5
RUNNING (ft) | 55.3" 53.97 54.2 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 54.3 4149 37.2
DRAWDOWN (ft) | 19.4” 18.67’ 19.5 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 4 .73 4.7
Gallons Per Minute (GPM) 366 361 377 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 461 480 475

Specific Capacity (gal/ft DD 18.9 19.33 19.33 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 62.29 62.09 101

WELL #7 JAN FEB MAR | APR | MAY | JUN JUL AUG SEP OoCT NOV DEC
STATIC (ft) | 33.2° 31.2 30.7 30.2 33.9 40.1 43.1 52.12’ 54.7 55.6' 28.2 241
RUNNING (ft) | 33.7 33.5 33.7 33.1° OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 57.5' 31.2 26.7
DRAW DOWN (ft) 25 23 3 29 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 1.9 3 26
Gallons Per Minute (GPM) 310 309 305 325 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 203 301 263
Specific Capacity (gal/ft DD) 124 134.34 101.66 112.06 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 106 100.33 101

Gallons Per Minute (GPM
Specific Capacity (gal/ft DD

OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF
OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF

WELL #8 JAN FEB MAR | APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OoCT NOV DEC
STATIC(f) | 636 | 627 | 623 | 616 | 631 | 635 | 648 | 664 | 669 | 647 | 632 54
RUNNING(f) | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF
DRAWDOWN(fy | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF | OFF
)
)

Page 96 of 100



December 2025

Non-Reportable Nitrate Levels 2025

January | February | March | April | May | June July August | September | October | November | December
Well #8 11.1 11.2 10.3 10.8 10.6 10.6 104 10.9 11.3 9.9 8.7 4.2
Ranchitos 17.1 18.1 16.7 16.4 17.2 17 16.1 15.1 14.1 13.3 135 14.9

Water Pumped, Sold, Purchased & Water Loss (by MOWD Billing Period)
MONTH PUMPED (AF) | PURCHASED TOTAL FLUSHED SOLD % DIFFERENCE NOTES
(AF) SUPPLY (AF) (AF) (AF)
2025 JAN 53.12 0 53.12 0.04 56.68 6%
FEB 38.81 0 38.81 0.14 32.28 16% Service Leak 2/18
MAR 31.10 0 31.10 0.3 30.26 2%
APR 13.34 37.89 51.23 0 48.82 5%
MAY 0.05 52.39 52.44 0.13 47.73 9%
JUN 0.58 57.67 58.25 0.08 63.46 9%
JUL 0.03 69.62 69.65 0.45 68.19 2%
AUG 0.19 69.82 70.01 0.15 68.29 2%
SEP 0.71 80.81 81.52 1.16 77.76 5% Hit Hydrant La Luna; Well site flushing
OCT 39.54 19.03 58.57 0.51 51.77 10% Well 7 leak; Wells flushing, El Conejo leak
NOV 47.66 0 47.66 0.3 44.01 8%
DEC 36.64 3.94 40.58 0.03 35.39 12%
YTD 2025 161.77 391.17 652.94 3.29 624.64 4%
TOTAL 2024 589.17 48.58 637.76 0.78 584.54 8% *Flushing Tracker started Sep 2024
TOTAL 2023 441.18 107.75 548.93 499.61 9%
TOTAL 2022 45143 216.43 667.86 615.38 9%
TOTAL 2021 411.94 266.57 678.51 640.95 6%
TOTAL 2020 485.71 197.26 682.97 635.47 7.5%
3

Page 97 of 100



December 2025

Reserve Funds

* Balance at the County of Ventura

$ 1,432,146.35

Total Taxes

$ 127,254.41

Total Interest from reserve account#

$7,633.13

Fiscal Year Total Revenues

July 1st— December 31st 2024

$1,272,774.76

July 1st — December 31st 2025

$1,398.435.73

Bank Balances

* LAIF Balance $ 152,230.22
Transferred from L.A.I.F. to General $0.00
(#) Quarterly Interest from LAIF $0.00
* Money Market (Mechanics Bank) $7,629.00
Amount Transferred to Mechanics from County this month $0.00
Amount Transferred to General Fund from Money Market $0.00
Monthly Interest received from Money Market $ .14
General Fund Balance $46,799.77
Trust Fund Balance $6,853.39
* Capital Improvement Fund $ 26,246.32
(#) Quarterly Interest from Capital Account $0.24
Total Interest accrued $7,633.51

Page 98 of 100



S,

% VENTUF(.‘-*.iE‘UNT'-":vWLET‘QJB
9

45

202 WEST EL ROBLAR DRIVE

Board Secretary Report — January 2026

Administrative

Annual Ventura County Environmental Reporting (CERS) submitted on December 23, 2025.

Staff are working on the new SWRCB CalWATRS web portal to submit the annual water-use reports.
Reporting for Oct 2024 — Sep 2025 is due by January 31, 2026.

Staff are working on the new EPA Risk and Resilience Assessments and Emergency Response Plans for
Small Community Drinking Water Systems, under Section 1433 of the Safe Drinking Water Act, amended
by America’s Water Infrastructure Act section 2013. Initial certification for the RRA is due by June 2026,
and the ERP certification is due by December 2026.

Water Rate Study presentation at the January 20, 2026, regular board meeting.

Financial (any items not covered in the separate Financials Report)

The Financial Audit FY 24-25 is pending draft financials from the auditors.

Billing/Customer Service

Month #Total # Account Total HCF Monthly Customer
Service Owner Billed Bill Total
Orders Changes
December 24 52 3 19,292 $141,151.22
January 25 76 11 25,441 $163,916.67
February 25 67 7 14,649 $123,322.95
March 25 56 8 13,350 $118,749.73
April 25 90 5 22,087 $155,164.02
May 25 78 10 21,291 $151,505.06
June 25 137 34 26,425 $201,428.69
July 25 192 7 29,638 $218,697.61
August 25 163 12 29,725 $219,075.88
September 25 137 10 33,789 $238,778.08
October 25 72 7 23,552 $160,259.56
November 25 96 4 20,089 $147,343.47
December 25 134 15 15,756 $131,663.49

June 25 Service Orders: 89 were re-reads during the meter reading process. Of the 34 account ownership
changes, 21 accounts were involved —an unusually high turnover for the first week of June. The total billed
amount includes the Casitas Surcharge.

July 25: 192 Service Orders: 47 new AMI meters installed, 107 re-reads during the meter reading process,
7 leak checks performed outside of the meter reading process. The total billed amount includes the Casitas
Surcharge.

Board Secretary Report —January 2026

Page 99 of 100



e December 25: 134 Service Orders: 44 Re-reads during meter reading for abnormal consumption, 42 New
AMI meters installed, 16 leak checks.

Board of Directors

Board Member Position Term Ends Term Type
Michel Etchart President 2026 Long Term (Re-elected 2022)
Christian Oakland Vice President 2026 Short Term (Appointed 2024)
James Kentosh Director 2026 Long Term (Re-elected 2022)
Christy Cooper Director 2028 Long Term (Re-elected 2024)
Joe Pangea Director 2026 Long Term (Elected 2022)

e Biennial Director Trainings:

o Antiharassment Training for supervisors and managers is due. (2 remaining)
o CA Local Agency Ethics Training is due. (2 remaining)

o NEW 2026: Fiscal and Financial Training

Projects:

No updates.

Recommended Actions: Receive an update from the Board Secretary concerning miscellaneous

matters and District correspondence. Provide feedback to staff.

Attachments:

None.

Board Secretary Report —January 2026

Page 100 of 100




	Item 1 MOWD Regular Board Agenda 01-20-2026
	(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Gov. Code § 54956.9)
	Name of case: Santa Barbara Channelkeeper v. State Water Resources Control Board, et al., Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. 19STCP01176

	Item 3 12-16-2025 Regular Meeting Minutes 
	Item 5 Financial Plan Options Presentation Board Meeting Update (002)
	Water Rate Study�Meiners Oaks Water District
	Objective of Today’s Meeting
	Revenues
	Operating Expenses
	Capital Plan
	Capital Plan
	Current/Recommended Reserve Targets
	Financial Plan Options
	Status Quo Financial Plan
	Status Quo: Operating Position
	Status Quo: Fund Balance
	Option 1
	Option 1
	Option 1: Operating Position
	Option 1: Fund Balance
	Option 1: DSCR
	Option 2
	Option 2
	Option 2: Operating Position
	Option 2: Fund Balance
	Option 2: DSCR
	Option 3
	Option 3
	Option 3: Operating Position
	Option 3: Fund Balance
	Option 4
	Option 4
	Option 4: Operating Position
	Option 4: Fund Balance
	Option 5
	Option 5
	Option 5: Operating Position
	Option 5: Fund Balance
	Slide Number 34

	Item 7a Income 122025
	Item 7b Expenditures 122025
	Item 7c AP Report 121625-011526
	Item 7d Board Financial Graphs
	Updated Graphs
	Reserves Graph

	Item 8b Board Committee Membership 2026
	Item 8c Resolution 20260120 UVRGA Director and Alternate for 26-28
	Item 8d Brown Act Gov. Code Secs. 54950 - 54963--With Amendments Effective as of 1.1.2026
	Item 9 December 2025 G.M. Report
	Item 10 Board Secretary Report January 2026



